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I! THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEE!TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
I! A!D  FOR PALM BEACH COU!TY, FLORIDA 

BETH SAFFER, ARTHUR ROBINS 
and LISA DEFABRITIIS, individually 
and on behalf of others similarly 
situated, 
 
Plaintiffs,                                                                          Case No. 50-2023-CA-015733 
 
v.                                                               
 
SANDRA KLIMAS, an individual; 
ROBERT THOM, aka ROB THOM, an 
individual; ANTHONY DiGENNARO, 
an individual; ROBERT STERN aka 
BOB STERN, an individual; THOMAS 
ALDRIDGE, an individual; ROCHELLE 
COHEN, an individual; YAHUDA 
ISRAEL, aka JANICE SMITH aka 
TIRTZHAH ISRAEL, an individual; 
CHARLES COHN, an individual; 
SUSAN HERMAN, an individual; 
NUMBER 2 CONDOMINIUM 
ASSOCIATION - PALM GREENS AT 
VILLA DEL RAY, INC., a Florida Not 
For Profit Corporation; BP BALLOT, 
INC., aka BECKER BALLOT, a Florida 
corporation; BECKER & POLIAKOFF, 
P.A., a Florida professional corporation, 
 

Defendants. 
______________________________________/ 

 
 

VERIFIED THIRD AME!DED CLASS ACTIIO! 
COMPLAI!T A!D DEMA!D FOR JURY TRIAL 

 
 Plaintiffs Beth Saffer, Arthur Robins and Lisa Defabritiis, individually and on behalf of all 

others similarly situated (hereinafter "Plaintiffs" or "Class"), hereby file suit against Defendants, 

Sandra Klimas; an individual; Robert Thom aka Rob Thom, an individual; Anthony DiGennaro, 

an individual; Robert Stern aka Bob Stern, an individual; Thomas Aldridge, an individual; 
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Rochelle Cohen, an individual; Charles Cohn, an individual; Janice Smith aka Yahuda Israel aka 

Tirtzhah Israel, an individual; Charles Cohn, an individual; and Susan Herman, an individual 

(collectively, “the fiduciaries and their associates” or "Individual Defendants," and respectively, 

“Klimas”, “Thom”, “DiGennaro”, “Stern”, “Aldridge”, “Cohen”, "Cohn," “Herman” and “Israel”) 

as well as Number 2 Condominium Association - Palm Greens At Villa Del Ray, Inc., a Florida 

not for profit corporation (hereinafter referred to as the "Number 2 Association"); BP Ballot, Inc. 

a Florida corporation, aka Becker Ballot, aka Becker Ballot.com (hereinafter  referred to as 

“Becker Ballot"); and Becker & Poliakoff, P.A., a Florida professional corporation (hereinafter 

referred to as "Becker law firm;" Becker & Poliakoff, P.A. and Becker Ballot are also collectively 

referred to hereinafter as "Becker Entities"), and claim as follows: 

ALLEGATIO!S COMMO! TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTIO! 

I. WHAT THIS CASE IS ABOUT 

1. This case involves the concealment and diversion of assets and monies by the 

Number 2 Association and the Individual Defendants,' as well as breaches of fiduciary obligations 

by the Individual Defendants relating to their mismanagement of important affairs and rights held 

by residents affiliated with five not-for-profit corporations as set forth in this Third Amended 

Complaint. At all times material hereto, these five not-for-profit corporations that were the targets 

of the scheme by the Defendants, and each of them, were: 

i. Number 1 Condominium Association - Palm Greens at Villa Delray, Inc. 

("Number 1 Association");  

ii. Number 2 Condominium Association - Palm Greens at Villa Delray, Inc. 

("Number 2 Association"); 

iii. Palm Greens at Villa Delray Recreation Condominium Association, Inc. 

("Recreation Association"); 
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iv. Palm Greens Community Association, Inc. ("PGCA"); and 

v. Delray Trails Homeowner Association, Inc. ("Delray Trails").1 

2. At all times material hereto, Defendant Rob Thom was not only an officer and 

director of the Number 2 Association, but he was also the officer who asserted substantial day-to-

day control over PGCA. 

3. At all times material hereto, pursuant to PGCA's Articles of Incorporation (a true 

and correct copy of which is appended hereto as Exhibit 1), and in truth and in fact, PGCA's charter 

and sole business purpose was to "organize and coordinate a united, viable federation of 

condominium associations within the Palm Greens community … for the purpose of carrying 

out the common goals, objectives and purposes of the Members," which were "initial[ly]" 

defined as Number 1 Association, Number 2 Association and the Recreation Association, but 

which later included Delray Trails condominium residents as well. See, Exhibit 1, Article V, 

Section 1 (Collectively, Number 1 Association, Number 2 Association and the Recreation 

Association are referred to as "Palm Greens.") 

4. The PGCA Articles, Exhibit 1, expressly defined the scope of PGCA's business 

charter as not only benefiting the multiple Palm Greens not-for-profit entities but also "protecting 

and furthering" the "properties historically utilized and enjoyed by the residents of the Palm 

Greens community." See, Exhibit 1, Article V, Section 2. All members of the Class are actually 

and in fact current or former residents of the Palm Greens community.  The Class members also 

include the residents of Delray Trails, a new condominium community adjacent to Palm Greens 

that was later made the subject to protection by PGCA as set forth in this Third Amended 

Complaint. 

 
1 For the Court's convenience, attached hereto and identified as the Master Schematic Exhibit is a rendering of the 
foregoing relationships and landholdings related to the parties to this lawsuit. 



 

4 
 

5. In order to assist Thom in committing the unlawful and at times criminal actions 

set forth in this Third Amended Complaint Defendants Klimas, DiGennaro, Stern, Aldridge, 

Cohen, Cohn Herman and Israel assisted Thom regarding diversions of money and other wrongful 

misconduct, as set forth in this Third Amended Complaint, for purposes of carrying out the scheme 

to divert assets and violate fiduciary duties as set forth herein. Indeed, not only were Aldridge and 

Herman listed in the Articles, Exhibit 1, as two of the three initial Directors of PGCA for the 

benefit of Plaintiffs and the Class they represent, but at all times material hereto each of Defendants 

Klimas, DiGennaro, Stern, Aldridge, Cohen, Cohn, Herman and Israel were agents in fact of both 

PGCA and Number 2 Association all of whom who agreed to act as fiduciaries of Plaintiffs 

pursuant to above described charter and sole business purpose of PGCA. PGCA was dominated 

and controlled by the Individual Defendants with a purpose to defeat its corporate charter of the 

“united viable federation” as stated in Exhibit 1. 

6. In addition to the foregoing, during the time the Individual Defendants held what 

they agreed to be fiduciary duties to the Class, at all times material hereto, the Individual 

Defendants participated in a wide-ranging scheme to divert money and violate the charter of PGCA 

to the detriment of Plaintiffs as set forth in this Third Amended Complaint, including, but not 

limited to, as follows:  

i. By way of example, the Number 2 Association's reserves have been depleted 

and/or stolen and $4,000,000.00 remains unaccounted for, as well as 

unaccounted for reductions in capital by at least $1,500,000.00 since 2020; 

ii. By way of further example, Plaintiffs have not been provided with the benefit 

of the "viable federation of condominium associations within the Palm Greens 

community" or "the protection of" the rights "historically utilized and enjoyed 
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by the residents of the Palm Greens community including, but not limited to, 

the adjacent golf course" and the "common elements," all of which they were 

entitled to by reason of the charter of PGCA for the benefit of all Plaintiffs. See, 

Exhibit 1, Article V, Section 1 (emphasis added). Instead, the Individual 

Defendants not only have rendered Number 2 Association insolvent through 

their monetary diversions of capital and of other assets as set forth in this 

Second Amended Complaint, but they have stripped the Plaintiffs of 

approximately $20 million of legal rights in and to the "common elements" and 

"the adjacent golf course" through their acts and omissions, as more fully and 

comprehensively set forth in this Third Amended Complaint 

7. In an ongoing effort to conceal the theft, mismanagement and other misconduct set 

forth in this Third Amended Complaint to the injury of all members of the Class, the Defendants, 

and each of them, including both Becker Ballot and Becker & Poliakoff, conspired together to 

conduct a fraudulent and unauthorized election in violation (a) of each of Section 4.2 of the 

Number 2 Association's Bylaws, Fla. Stat. § 718.1255 and Florida Administrative Code, Rule 61B-

23-0021(7) as well as (b) of all associated and related election provisions of Florida law governing 

condominiums.  The purpose of the fraudulent election was to permit the Individual Defendants to 

remain in control of Number 2 Association – and therefore in substantial control of PGCA as more 

fully set forth in this Second Amended Complaint – which was the only way the Individual 

Defendants could continue their scheme as described in this Third Amended Complaint and the 

only way Becker & Poliakoff's prior misconduct could continue to be concealed.  Without the 

fraudulent election and without the Individual Defendants remaining in control of Number 2 

Association, the attorney client privileged records associated with Becker & Poliakoff and 
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disclosing its unlawful misconduct would be available to view by people not a part of the 

conspiracy who would be successors to the Individual Defendants.  This provided all Defendants 

herein with a huge incentive to assure the Individual Defendants remained in control of those 

records.  The details of the fraudulent election are set forth in full pursuant to Counts IV and V of 

this Third Amended Complaint. 

8. As members and residents of the Palm Greens condominium entities who expected 

to benefit from the activities of PGCA, pursuant to express provisions of PGCA's charter as set 

forth in the Articles, Exhibit 1, Plaintiffs Beth Saffer, Arthur Robins and Lisa Defabritiis have 

standing to bring this action as Class representatives pursuant to Florida Statute §720.305 and 

applicable law. Beth Saffer and Arthur Robins are residents of Number 2 Association and Lisa 

Defabritiis is a resident of Number 1 Association, each owning real estate therein and each owning 

direct real estate interests in and to the "common elements" expressly intended to be protected 

by the Articles of PGCA, Exhibit 1.  See, Exhibit 1, Article V, Section 2 (PGCA's charter was to 

assure "the protection of … the common elements of Palm Greens").  The Class’s direct interest 

in and to the "common elements" arises pursuant to records that are recorded in the Official 

Records of Palm Beach County, as follows: 

i. Pursuant to the applicable Declarations of Condominium, all residents of 

Number 1 Association and Number 2 Association have direct ownership interests 

in all recreational land appertaining or relating to the operation of Palm Greens, 

including clubhouse grounds, pools, tennis courts, shuffleboard courts and other 

amenities.  These Declarations of Condominium provide that all common elements 

were "conveyed" to each homeowner within Palm Greens as set forth in the 

Declarations of Condominium recorded in Palm Beach County in 1973, as 
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Documents 13307 and 44107, Official Record numbers 2249 and 2298.  Such 

conveyances were made at pages 822 and 823 of Official Record number 2249 

(Number 1 Association), and at pages 891 and 892 of Official Record number 2298 

(Number 2 Association), of the foregoing Declarations of Condominium of 

Number 1 Association and Number 2 Association. A true and correct copy of the 

cover pages and relevant pages of these Declarations of Condominium for Number 

1 Association and Number 2 Association – giving all of its residents direct real 

estate interests in and to the common elements owned by the Recreation 

Association – are collectively appended hereto as Composite Exhibit 2 and 

highlighted for convenience. 

ii. This direct ownership of the Palm Greens residents in and to the common 

elements owned by the Recreation Association is not dependent in any way, shape 

or form by reason of any shareholder or similar relationship in any juridic entity by 

the homeowners, and indeed neither Number 1 Association nor Number 2 

Association have any ownership interest of any kind in or to the common elements 

owned by each of the Recreation Association and the more than 1,500 resident 

families holding real estate within the Number 1 Association and Number 2 

Association. 

iii. All property owners of Delray Trails have direct real estate interests in and 

to the common elements owned by the Recreation Association by reason of Section 

8 of that certain contract recorded on March 23, 2020, as CFN 202001104761 of 

book 31315 of the Official Records of the County of Palm Beach, Florida.  In 

addition, all of Delray Trails' property owners have direct real estate interests in 
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and to the common elements by reason of an Access Easement recorded on March 

25, 2020, as CFN 20200113210 of book 31321 of the Official Records of the 

County of Palm Beach, Florida. A true and correct copy of this Declaration of 

Condominium of Delray Trails is appended hereto as Exhibit 3. 

9. All Plaintiffs – including significant numbers of residents of Delray Trails – are 

entitled to pursue their claims as a Class Action on behalf of all members and residents who are 

similarly situated (hereinafter referred to as “The Class”) based upon Florida Rules of Civil 

Procedure 1.220(a) and 1.220(b)(3) and based further upon Florida Supreme Court binding 

precedent as set forth in The Florida Bar, 353 So. 2d 95 (Fla. 1977).  All members of the Class 

were intended beneficiaries and stakeholders expected to receive the benefit of the responsibilities 

of PGCA pursuant to its Articles, Exhibit 1.  These beneficial positions by all members of the 

Class arise pursuant to their direct landholdings in and to the Recreation Association real estate as 

set forth above.  These direct landholdings are not duplicated by any of the not-for-profit 

condominium corporations Number 1 Association, Number 2 Association and/or Delray Trails 

because none of these condominium corporations have any real estate interests in or to any portion 

of the Recreation Association properties. 

II. JURISDICTIO! A!D PARTIES 

10. This is a class action lawsuit for damages that exceeds $50,000.00, exclusive of 

interest, costs and attorney’s fees. 

11. At all material times hereto, Plaintiff Beth Saffer has been and continues to be a 

citizen and resident of Florida, and in particular, Palm Beach County, Florida, who is over eighteen 

years who is otherwise sui juris. 

12. At all material times hereto, Plaintiff Arthur Robins has been and continues to 
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be a citizen and resident of Florida, and in particular, Palm Beach County, Florida, who is over 

eighteen years who is otherwise sui juris. 

13. At all material times hereto, Plaintiff Lisa Debrabitiis has been and continues to 

be a citizen and resident of Florida, and in particular, Palm Beach County, Florida, who is over 

eighteen years who is otherwise sui juris. 

14. At all material times hereto, Defendant Sandra Klimas has been and continues 

to be a citizen and resident of Florida, and in particular, Palm Beach County, Florida, who is over 

eighteen years who is otherwise sui juris. 

15. At all material times hereto, Defendant Robert Thom has been and continues to 

be a citizen and resident of Florida, and in particular, Palm Beach County, Florida, who is over 

eighteen years who is otherwise sui juris. 

16. At all material times hereto, Defendant Anthony DiGennaro has been and 

continues to be a citizen and resident of Florida, and in particular, Palm Beach County, Florida, 

who is over eighteen years who is otherwise sui juris. 

17. At all material times hereto, Defendant Robert Stern has been and continues to 

be a citizen and resident of Florida, and in particular, Palm Beach County, Florida, who is over 

eighteen years who is otherwise sui juris. 

18. At all material times hereto, Defendant Thomas Aldridge has been and continues 

to be a citizen and resident of Florida, and in particular, Palm Beach County, Florida, who is over 

eighteen years who is otherwise sui juris. 

19. At all material times hereto, Defendant Rochelle Cohen has been and continues 

to be a citizen and resident of Florida, and in particular, Palm Beach County, Florida, who is over 

eighteen years who is otherwise sui juris. 
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20. At all material times hereto, Defendant Yahuda Israel, aka Janice Smith, aka 

Tirtzhah Israel has been and continues to be a citizen and resident of Florida, and in particular, 

Palm Beach County, Florida, who is over eighteen years who is otherwise sui juris. 

21. At all material times hereto, Defendant Charles Cohn has been and continues to 

be a citizen and resident of Florida, and in particular, Palm Beach County, Florida, who is over 

eighteen years who is otherwise sui juris. 

22. At all material times hereto, Defendant Susan Herman has been and continues 

to be a citizen and resident of Florida, and in particular, Palm Beach County, Florida, who is over 

eighteen years who is otherwise sui juris. 

23. At all material times, Defendant BP Ballot, Inc. aka Becker Ballot, has been and 

continues to be a Florida corporation, authorized and doing business in Florida and in particular 

Palm Beach County, Florida where it has conducted elections for condominiums and homeowner 

associations, including the Association. Becker Ballot's business activities in Palm Beach are 

ongoing and not isolated, and venue is therefore proper as to BP Ballot in Palm Beach County, 

Florida. 

24. Reserved. 

25. At all material times, Defendant Becker & Poliakoff, P.A. has been and 

continues to be a Florida professional corporation authorized and doing business in Florida and in 

particular Palm Beach County, Florida where it provides legal services and conducts elections for 

condominium associations and homeowner associations, including the Association. Becker & 

Poliakoff, P.A.'s business activities in Palm Beach are ongoing and not isolated, and venue is 

therefore proper as to Becker & Poliakoff, P.A. in Palm Beach County, Florida.  

26. At all material times, Defendant Number 2 - Condominium Association - Palm 
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Greens at Villa Del Ray, Inc., is a Florida not for profit corporation doing business in Palm Beach 

County, Florida.  The Association is a condominium association as defined by Florida Statutes 

Chapter 718. The Association is incorporated under the laws of the State of Florida and is located 

within Palm Beach County and is governed by the Declaration of Condominium originally 

recorded on December 14, 1973, in the Official Records Book as Document No. 2298 starting on 

Page 820, in the Public Records of Palm Beach County. The Declaration was purportedly 

amended, inter alia, by a filing made through Defendant Becker & Polakoff, P.A. on May 16, 

2016, in the Official Records Book as Document No. 28301 starting on Page 1014, in the Public 

Records of Palm Beach County.  

27. Jurisdiction and venue are proper in Palm Beach County pursuant to Fla. Stat. 

§47.011.   

28. All conditions precedent to the filing of this action have been performed, 

excused or waived. 

III. CIVIL CO!SPIRATORIAL RELATIO!SHIP OF ALL DEFE!DA!TS 

29. At all times material hereto, each of the Defendants named in this Third Amended 

Complaint was the agent and co-conspirator of each other, and all acts and omissions set forth in 

this Third Amended Complaint were done and achieved pursuant to and with the intent to further 

the schemes and violations of law set forth in this Third Amended Complaint.  

30. From and after September of 2020, the Individual Defendants, Number 2 

Association, Becker & Poliakoff and Becker Ballot conspiratorially agreed among themselves to 

perform the unlawful actions of diverting funds and then covering up the monetary defalcations as 

set forth in this Third Amended Complaint.  

31. At all times material hereto, Becker & Poliakoff knew that funds were actively 
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being diverted and its agents – including attorney Mark Friedman, Esq. – specifically acted on that 

knowledge by assisting in the diversion and then covering up the diversion of millions of dollars 

of capital as well as assisting in the destruction of evidence related to such diversions of 

condominium assets. Becker & Poliakoff knew it was not rendering legal advice in this regard, for 

destruction of condominium records itself violates the Penal Code and Becker & Poliakoff knew 

and intended that directing violations of the Penal Code did not constitute legal advice under 

Florida law or the Florida Rules of Professional Conduct. 

32. When Mark Friedman was confronted with the diversion of assets of Number 2 

Association by members of the Florida legal community – members wishing to discuss ways to 

recover back the money for the benefit of Number 2 Association – Friedman tacitly admitted but 

attempted to cover up the diversion of assets by claiming that any such mismanaged funds had not 

"left the community." He and his partners at Becker & Poliakoff then continued a course of conduct 

of intentionally hiding and destroying evidence of the defalcations of money for the purpose of 

assisting in the fraud of his client, Number 2 Association, and the Individual Defendants, as set 

forth in this Third Amended Complaint.  Becker & Poliakoff has itself destroyed evidence related 

to the defalcations under fear that it may be subpoenaed and not wishing to have possession of 

probative evidence of illegal activity.  All of Becker & Poliakoff's actions in furtherance of the 

conspiracy are set forth in the charging counts of this Third Amended Complaint. 

33. Besides Becker & Poliakoff's role in the conspiracy as set forth in paragraphs 30 

through 32, above, the roles in the conspiracy of each of Defendants has been as described below, 

all done for the purposes of achieving the objects of the conspiracy which were to achieve the 

unlawful ends of monetary defalcation and breaches of fiduciary duty as set forth in this Third 

Amended Complaint. 
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34. Defendants Thom and Klimas were masterminds of the conspiracy and directed the 

fraud and intentional violations of fiduciary duty as set forth in this Third Amended Complaint in 

the manner described throughout this Third Amended Complaint. 

35. The balance of the Individual Defendants intentionally assisted Thom and Klimas 

in the manner set forth throughout this Third Amended Complaint.  

36. Becker Ballot's role in the conspiracy was to assure a fraudulent condominium 

election in the manner set forth in detail in the Fourth and Fifth Causes of Action of this Third 

Amended Complaint, all for the purposes of protecting its affiliated law firm Becker & Poliakoff 

– whose partners own and control Becker Ballot – from a lawsuit for legal malpractice and 

associated wrongdoing once Becker & Poliakoff is ultimately terminated as counsel for Number 2 

Association after all of the illegal activities come to light. Both Becker Ballot and Becker & 

Poliakoff intended through their fraudulent election to assure the Individual Defendants remained 

in power and control of Number 2 Association in order to prevent new principals of Number 2 

Association not a part of the conspiracy from viewing attorney client privileged evidence 

demonstrating Becker's deep role in connection with the conspiracy dating back the better part of 

a decade, according to proof. The foregoing protection was thought by the principals of Becker & 

Poliakoff to be achieved if the chosen colleagues of Sandra Klimas were elected to positions of 

control within Number 2 Association, because of which Becker Ballot put on a fraudulent election 

as set forth in this Third Amended Complaint. 

37. After realizing that certain portions of its fraud had been discovered and that 

documentary proof of its fraud had been uncovered, Becker & Poliakoff advised Number 2 

Association that Becker Ballot would be unable to ever act as an election agent again in the future 

for Number 2 Association. 
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38. The balance of roles of each Defendant in connection with the conspiracy are set 

forth in detail within the charging counts in this Third Amended Complaint. 

39. As a result of the conspiracy of the Defendants set forth in paragraphs 29 through 

38 of this Third Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs have been injured as more fully set forth in each 

Count of this Third Amended Complaint. 

III. CLASS ACTIO! ALLEGATIO!S 

40. Pursuant to Florida Rules of Civil Procedure 1.220(a) and 1.220(b)(3), Plaintiffs 

bring this action on behalf of themselves, and the class of persons similarly situated and defined 

as follows: 

i. All individuals (or their guardians or representatives) who are currently 

members of the Number 1 Association, which includes approximately 684 units 

and/or homeowners, including, but not limited to, Plaintiff Lisa Defabritiis who at 

all times material hereto has been and still is a member of Number 1 Association 

expected to be protected by the Individual Defendants pursuant to the charter of 

PGCA and otherwise according to proof. 

ii. All individuals (or their guardians or representatives) who are currently 

members of the Number 2 Association, which includes approximately 717 units 

and/or homeowners, including, but not limited to, Plaintiffs Arthur Robins and Beth 

Saffer who at all times material hereto have been and still are members of the 

Number 2 Association expected to be protected by the Individual Defendants 

pursuant to the charter of PGCA and otherwise according to proof. 

iii. All individuals (or their guardians or representatives) who are currently 

members of Delray Trails, which includes approximately 150 units and/or 
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homeowners, including, but not limited to, persons identified in filings before this 

Court pursuant to the Court's prior orders in the case at bar, all of which expected to 

be protected by the Individual Defendants pursuant to the charter of PGCA and 

otherwise according to proof. 

iv. The Recreation Association, which expected to be protected by the 

Individual Defendants pursuant to the charter of PGCA and otherwise according to 

proof. 

v. All individuals (or their guardians or representatives) who were previously 

members of the Number 1 Association or the Number 2 Association or Delray Trails, 

or had a cognizable legal interest therein, on or after April 15, 2020; 

vi. All individuals (or their guardians or representatives) who own real estate 

within the condominium entity called Delray Trails, who have present or prospective 

contractual interests in and to the Association’s Recreation Campus, as that term is 

defined in this Third Amended Complaint, and as set forth in paragraph __ of this 

Third Amended Complaint; and 

vii. All individuals (or their guardians or representatives) who have a 

cognizable legal interest in any portion of the common area recreation facilities 

associated with the Recreation Association.  

41. Excluded from the Class are Defendants, together with their legal representatives, 

heirs, successors, assigns or co-conspirators and any judicial officer assigned to this matter and his 

or her immediate family. Otherwise, neither the members of the Association nor Number 1 

Association nor the members of Number 1 Association nor the Recreation Corporation are 

excluded from the Class.  
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42. This action is brought and may properly be maintained as a class action pursuant to 

the Florida Supreme Court ruling in The Florida Bar, 353 So. 2d 95 (Fla. 1977) which holds that 

class action treatment of condominium owners' litigation matters is mandatory. The Florida 

Supreme Court stated that it is “expressly declaring condominium association members a class as 

a matter of law without the necessity for pleading or proving the traditional seven class action 

elements […].”  Id. at 97.  Accordingly, the Class is automatically certified as a matter of law in 

order to protect the members of the Number 1 Association, the Number 2 Association and Delray 

Trails unless and until such members execute a lawful waiver opting out of their right to Class 

membership and/or otherwise receive compensation after full disclosure and notification. 

43. Regardless, the case at bar satisfies the numerosity, commonality, typicality, 

adequacy, and superiority requirements that are class action predicates and as such Class 

certification is required in the circumstances of this case for this reason as well.  

44. Although the precise number of Class members is presently unknown, upon 

information and belief, the proposed Class is so numerous that joining all members as individual 

Plaintiffs would be impractical and contrary to the interests of judicial economy.2  

45. Questions of law and fact common to the Plaintiff Class exist that predominate over 

questions affecting only individual members, including inter alia: 

i. Whether the Defendants have stolen or diverted monies of the Number 2 

Association in a manner frustrating the purposes of PGCA as stated in its 

Articles, Exhibit 1, to the detriment of all members of the Class, or whether 

 
2  There are likely more than 2,000 Florida citizens that would comprise the Class and the 

individuals who have hired or contacted Plaintiff’s counsel are further detailed in a separate Client 
Disclosure which is incorporated by reference and made a part hereof as if fully set forth herein.  The 
foregoing, in and of itself, satisfies – in fact well exceeds – the numerosity requirement of a Class action 
under Florida law. 
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they assisted and actively participated in such theft or diversion of monies; 

and, if so, where such monies went;3 

ii. Whether the Defendants mismanaged the affairs of the Number 2 Association 

and then concealed the mismanagement for purposes of violating their 

fiduciary duties to all members of the Class pursuant, inter alia, to the Articles 

of PGCA, Exhibit 1;  

iii. Whether the Defendants have conducted fraudulent elections and/or have used 

fraudulent elections to further a scheme to divest Class members of real estate 

interests owned by residents living within the Number 1 Association, Number 

2 Association, Delray Trails and/or the Recreation Corporation; 

iv. Whether the Defendants have breached their fiduciary duties by imposing 

unduly burdensome and onerous special assessments, surcharges or costs on 

certain members of the Class without providing the proper financial 

disclosures required, inter alia, by Fla. Stat. §§ 718.111, 718.112 and 718.116 

in order to negatively affect the value of the putative Class-homeowners' real 

property interests throughout the Number 1 Association, Number 2 

Association, Delray Trails and the Recreation Corporation with the intent  of 

benefiting themselves and third parties, including Outside Developers like 

13th Floor Investments, LLC (hereinafter collectively "Outside Developers"), 

inter alia. by forcing fire sales of Class member real properties or otherwise 

reducing the value of such real estate; 

v. Whether the Defendants have breached their fiduciary duties in permitting 

 
3  Upon information and belief, more than $1.5 millions of Association funds have been stolen or 

diverted separate and apart from millions in depleted reserves. 
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Outside Developers, including (without limitation) 13th Floor Investments, 

LLC, to violate contractual obligations and representations made for the 

benefit of the putative Class members;   

vi. Whether the Defendants have and are actively attempting to seize from 

members of the Class their money, real estate and real estate rights; 

vii. Whether the foregoing schemes, or other similar schemes of the Defendants 

constitute fraud, breaches of fiduciary duty or aiding and abetting breaches of 

fiduciary duty, and, if so, the extent of damages; 

viii. Whether the acts, omissions or breaches of fiduciary duties of the Becker law 

firm and Becker Ballot, constitute the aiding and abetting violations of 

fiduciary duty as defined in Logan v. Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP, 350 So. 

3d 404 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2022), Grape Leaf Cap., Inc. v. Lafontant, 316 So. 3d 

760, 761 (Fla. 3d DCA 2021), Cordell Consultant, Inc. Money Purchase Plan 

& Tr. v. Abbott, 561 F. App'x 882, 884–86 (11th Cir. 2014); Int'l Cmty. Corp. 

v. Young, 486 So. 2d 629, 630 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986) and Sherman v. Gursky 

Ragan, P.A., No. 3D22-2040 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2024). 

ix. Whether the foregoing schemes, or other similar schemes of the Defendants 

constitute constructive fraud or fraud or conspiracy to defraud, and, if so, the 

extent of damages; 

x. Whether the Number 2 Association's conduct set forth in this Second Amended 

Complaint was done without malicious intent but instead resulted from 

ordinary negligence or reckless behavior for which it is liable to its members 

and others in privity therewith for damages; 
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xi. Whether Defendants’ conduct injured the putative Class members and, if so, 

the extent of the damages; and 

xii. Whether the Defendants have participated in fraudulent condominium 

elections in violation of applicable State and Federal law. 

46. Plaintiffs are members of the putative Class. The claims asserted by the Plaintiffs 

in this action are typical of the claims of the members of the putative Class, as the claims arise 

from the same course of conduct by the Defendants and the relief sought is common and have 

caused the same or substantially similar injuries as to all other members of the Class.  

47. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the 

members of the putative Class, as their interests are coincident with, not antagonistic to, the other 

Class members.  

48. Plaintiffs have retained multiple lawyers constituting an extensive team of counsel 

which are competent, experienced and able to properly handle such litigation matters. Plaintiff’s 

counsel would be entitled to payment of reasonable attorney’s fees and costs pursuant to Florida 

law.  

49. Certification of the Class is further appropriate because questions of law or fact 

common to the respective members of the Class predominate over questions of law or fact affecting 

only individual members. This predominance makes class litigation superior to any other method 

available for the fair and efficient adjudication of these claims including consistency of 

adjudications. Absent a class action it would be highly unlikely that the members of the Class 

would be able to protect their own interests because the cost of litigation through individual 

lawsuits would either exceed the expected recovery or would otherwise irreparably frustrate the 

ability of Class members to achieve a fair and justiciable resolution and award with respect to their 
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claims. 

50. A class action is an appropriate method for the adjudication of the controversy in 

that it will permit a large number of claims to be resolved in a single forum simultaneously, 

efficiently, and without the unnecessary hardship that would result from the prosecution of 

numerous individual actions and the duplication of discovery, effort, expense, and the burden of 

the courts that individual actions would create. 

COU!T I – Fraud Against Sandra Klimas 
 

51. Plaintiffs reallege Paragraphs 1 through 50, as if fully set forth herein and further 

allege as follows: 

52. At all times material hereto, Klimas was a member of the Board of Directors of the 

Number 2 Association and was in control of the affairs, including financial affairs and 

management, of the Number 2 Association.  As such, and in view of the circumstances involving 

the Number 2 Association's relationship with the Recreation Corporation, Delray Trails and 

Number 1 Association as set forth in this Third Amended Complaint, Klimas had a fiduciary 

relationship with all members of the Class under Florida law. 

53. From at least 2020 to the present, Klimas implemented a fraudulent plan brought 

about by extraordinary financial problems she and her associates created within the operations 

Number 2 Association. The purpose of the plan was to divert or steal money from the Association 

while simultaneously covering up the loss of these monies.  The further purpose of the plan was 

to prevent Palm Greens and Delray Trails from becoming a viable federation of condominium 

associations as set forth in the charter of PGCA, Exhibit 1 hereto.   

54.  All told, Klimas presided over more than $1.5 millions of diversions or theft of 

financial assets of the Number 2 Association from the calendar year 2020 to the present. Klimas’ 

diversion and theft of assets of the Number 2 Association continued until she resigned under 
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disgrace in or about October 2024 after a Circuit Judge issued court orders containing findings of 

the presence of prima facie evidence against her and certain of the Individual Defendants on the 

issue of financial malfeasance. 

55. In order to conceal the diversions and thefts, at Klimas’ direction, more than 25 

requests for a forensic audit of the Number 2 Association have been rejected and denied.  Such 

requests have even been denied to Number 2 Association Board members who Klimas feels do not 

support Klimas' schemes, and they have been denied even after a Circuit Court judge issued a 

ruling suggesting they should move forward. 

56. Klimas’ fraud also includes her actions, beginning in 2021, to unlawfully take and 

divest members of the Class, without their knowledge or approval, of substantial real estate and 

land rights owned by them and to transfer those rights to others for less than fair market value in 

return for financial considerations to her or for her benefit.   

57. These land rights are owned by all members of the Class pursuant to the applicable 

conveyances of record in the Palm Beach County Recorder's Office providing that all members of 

the Class have direct ownership interests in all recreational land owned or controlled by the 

Recreation Corporation appertaining or relating to the businesses of the Number 2 Association and 

Number 1 Association and Delray Trails, including, but not limited to, more than 100 acres of 

extensive facilities including (a) an expansive, approximately 20,000 square foot clubhouse, (b) 

several administrative and amenity buildings, (c) a library, (d) a fitness center, (e) innumerable 

tennis and shuffleboard courts, (f) pickleball courts, (g) a resort-size pool and associated bath 

facilities and (h) other amenities. (Hereinafter collectively "Recreation Facilities" or "Recreation 

Campus").  

58. Klimas' fraudulent plan has been to allow the Recreation Facilities to deteriorate by 
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misdirecting or seizing control of Recreation Corporation-funds and ignoring contractual 

obligations of Outside Developers, including but not limited to, 13th Floor Investments, LLC, 

which contractual obligations required the Outside Developers to effect substantial upgrades and 

remodeling of the Recreation Facilities. In doing this, Klimas intended to financially benefit herself 

and the Outside Developers, including, but not limited to, 13th Floor Investments, LLC, according 

to proof.   

59. Starting as early as 2021, Plaintiffs and others began contacting Klimas and her co-

conspirators about Klimas' defalcations, diversions and runaway spending of Association money 

and other actions that appeared to be detrimental to the real estate and fiscal interests of Plaintiffs 

and the Class.   

60. During the past four years, Klimas has done more than divert $1.5 million but has 

also admitted to the preparation, processing or covering up of phony invoices amounting to 

$440,909.00 representing money which was also diverted from the Number 2 Association. On 

information and belief, the phony invoices Klimas has admitted were "phony" included 

landscaping and irrigation invoices. To date, Klimas and her co-conspirators have refused to 

provide forensic access to any invoices or bank statement-information in order to flesh out the 

foregoing improprieties further or work to recover back the monies for the benefit of the Number 

2 Association. Upon learning of all facts and circumstances, Plaintiffs will amend according to 

proof as directed by the Court. 

61. At Klimas' direction and at her behest, and in furtherance of her fraudulent scheme, 

the Number 2 Association has at all times failed and refused to investigate or pursue any insurance, 

bonding or other legal claims to recover back the above-described lost monies for the benefit of 

Plaintiffs and the putative Class.  Pursuit of any such investigation or claim would have exposed 
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Klimas and her co-conspirators' fraud and malfeasance. 

62. In early 2022 Plaintiffs questioned both Sandra Klimas and her co-conspirator Rob 

Thom about the foregoing matters, only to receive repeated assurances by them that there were no 

financial problems within the Number 2 Association, and that the Outside Developers were 

complying with their $20 million worth of contractual obligations. At the time these statements 

were made Klimas and Thom knew these statements were not true and these statements were made 

in order to conceal their fraud and malfeasance.   

63. As late as the fourth quarter of 2022, Klimas and Thom consistently refused to 

permit forensic audits or to provide clear financial reports as required of them as Board Members 

of the Number 2 Association by Fla. Stat. §718.111 and otherwise according to law. At that time, 

the Number 2 Association was receiving approximately $400,000.00 in monthly homeowner’s 

dues and yet was consistently experiencing financial problems and shortfalls that had been ongoing 

for years.  

64. Klimas and Thom in the latter half of 2022 were confronted by Plaintiff Arthur 

Robins regarding substantial financial improprieties, involving monetary diversions and wasteful 

spending that were suspected of existing given a substantial special assessment levied against the 

Number 2 Association’s members in 2021 at the direction of Defendants Klimas and Thom, and 

to address the clear delays by the Outside Developers in complying with their contractual promises 

and obligations which were causing the Class irreparable harm. Again, Klimas and Thom took no 

action as it would have exposed their fraud. 

65. As a result of Plaintiffs' efforts, from early September 2022 to mid-October 2022, 

Klimas traversed the community within the Number 2 Association and made representations to 

numerous people, including Plaintiff Arthur Robins, that the Association had no financial issues 
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of any kind and was financially healthy. In an effort to embarrass and silence Robins, with the 

hope of concealing her fraud, Klimas insisted on numerous occasions that Mr. Robins should 

apologize for alleging that financial problems had arisen during Klimas' stewardship of the 

Number 2 Association.  

66. On September 17, 2022, at Klimas' direction and with her prior approval, Thom 

wrote an email to Mr. Robins confirming the representations Thom and Klimas had been making 

regarding the fiscal soundness of the Number 2 Association under Klimas' stewardship. In his 

September 17, 2022, email, Thom affirmatively stated that any statement to the effect that the 

Association was or would soon be in "trouble financially" was and is a "totally inaccurate 

statement." (A true and correct copy of Thom's email is appended hereto as Exhibit 4). Thereafter, 

Thom made this and similar representations in Number 2 Association community meetings and 

otherwise throughout the Number 2 Association's community on numerous occasions with the 

intent of concealing the ongoing fraud. 

67. In furtherance of her fraudulent scheme, Klimas sent an email to Mr. Robins on 

October 9, 2023, stating flatly and confidently that the Number 2 Association "do[es] not have 

financial issues," which – according to Klimas – was "why [she] did the special assessments last 

year to build up our operating funds to a point where we are in a very strong financial position." 

This statement was false when it was made and Klimas knew it to be false but nevertheless made 

the statement in furtherance of her fraud.  (A true and correct copy of Sandra Klimas' October 9, 

2022, email is appended hereto as Exhibit 5 (emphasis added).) 

68. In addition to the foregoing misrepresentations, Klimas also misrepresented the 

actual state of, and the amount of reserves and cash balances held by the Number 2 Association on 

January 1, 2022, January 1, 2023, and January 1, 2024, by overreporting the amounts of available 
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reserves by a total of at least $1,500,000.00.  This was done in violation, inter alia, of Fla. Stat. 

§718.112 and in furtherance of concealing her fraud.    

69. Furthermore, throughout 2021 and 2022, Klimas made fraudulent 

misrepresentations to all members of the putative Class regarding approximately $20 million 

dollars’ worth of real estate development commitments made expressly for the benefit of the 

putative Class involving obligations of the Outside Developers, including 13th Floor Investments, 

LLC, all as set forth below. 

70. Throughout the aforementioned time period, Klimas represented to Robins, Saffer 

and members of the putative Class that these contractual obligations and commitments made for 

the benefit of the putative Class would be complied with as set forth in a contract between the 

parties involving the Outside Developers.  The most important of the representations made by 

Klimas was her representation that the $20 million dollars’ worth of construction work to be done 

for the benefit of the Class would "begin before" the Outside Developers began building the brand-

new homes they had planned. This representation, which was made to induce the Class to believe 

that the contractual obligations with the Outside Developers were being complied with, was made 

to Mr. Robins on behalf of the Class on at least September 9, 2021, December 23, 2021, February 

24, 2021, March 6, 2022, and March 31, 2022.  The purpose of these representations was to induce 

inaction by Mr. Robins and by the putative Class in order to permit the Outside Developers to 

avoid paying over to the Class their financially required consideration pursuant to applicable 

contracts they had entered into. The foregoing representations were made on the dates indicated 

either specifically by Klimas or at Klimas' direction through persons acting in association with 

Klimas, including by Defendants Thomas Aldridge, Susan Herman and Robert Thom.  The 

representations were made in exchange for financial benefits or considerations to Klimas and/or 
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her co-conspirators, according to proof. 

71. Plaintiffs and all Class members were ignorant of the fraudulent scheme alleged 

above and were ignorant of the fraudulent misrepresentations that went along with the fraudulent 

scheme as set forth above. 

72. Instead, Plaintiffs and all Class members reasonably believed and relied to their 

detriment that the representations made by Klimas and her associates, as set forth above, were true 

and correct.  

73.   As a proximate and foreseeable result of the aforementioned fraud, Plaintiffs and 

the Class have been damaged in an unknown sum according to proof. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs individually, and as members of the putative Class, demand 

judgment against Defendant Klimas, for compensatory damages, costs, prejudgment interest, and 

any and all other damages and relief which is permitted by law and which the Court deems just 

and proper.  

COU!T II – Breach of Fiduciary Duty Against Sandra Klimas 
 

74. Plaintiffs reallege Paragraphs 1 through 50, as if fully set forth herein and further 

allege as follows: 

75. At all times material hereto, Klimas voluntarily assumed the official role as member 

of the Board of Directors of the Number 2 Association and as an authorized representative and 

fiduciary of each of the Recreation Corporation, Number 1 Association and PGCA in and with 

respect to the contract with the Outside Developers to which both the Recreation Corporation and 

Number 1 Association and PGCA were parties and pursuant to the charter of PGCA as set forth in 

its Articles, Exhibit 1 hereto. This role assumed by Klimas was assumed by her for the benefit of 

the Plaintiffs and the putative Class. In addition, at all times material hereto, Klimas voluntarily 

represented to the entirety of the Class that she undertook the obligation to operate fiduciarily with 
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fidelity, trust and honesty toward all beneficiaries of the Number 2 Association, Number 1 

Association, the Recreation Corporation and all other associations or corporations commonly 

owning property adjacent to or coincident with both the Number 1 Association and Number 2 

Association and Delray Trails, according to proof. 

76. As a result of the position of trust assumed by Klimas and the confidence reposed 

in her by Plaintiffs and the putative Class, the Defendant Klimas owed each and every member of 

the putative Class a fiduciary duty of fidelity, good faith, honesty and full disclosure. 

77. From at least 2020 to the present, Klimas breached her fiduciary duties to Plaintiffs 

and the Class by: 1) diverting or stealing monies from the Number 2 Association; 2) concealing 

the diversion or theft of monies taking place at the Number 2 Association; 3) failing to investigate 

the theft or diversion of monies belonging to the Number 2 Association; 4) failing to pursue claims 

against persons or entities for the loss or theft of the Number 2 Association’s monies, including 

failing to initiate claims relating to insurance coverage for such losses; 5) failing to take appropriate 

measures to safeguard the property and assets of the Number 2 Association; 6) failing to obtain 

fair market value for the sale or disposition of the assets of Number 1 Association, Number 2 

Association and Delray Trails to Outside Developers including but not limited to 13th Floor; 7) 

failing to institute legal action against Outside Developers, including, but not limited to, 13th 

Floor, given their failure to comply with their contractual obligations to Palm Greens and Delray 

Trails; 8) failing to act in good faith and free from conflicts of interest when dealing with the assets 

and property of the Number 2 Association or in dealing with vendors to the Number 2 Association 

while knowing of the duty to disclose same to members of the Number 2 Association and the 

Class; 9) failing to conduct proper and lawful elections for the Board of Directors of the Number 

2 Association and 10) failing, as a result of the misconduct alleged in this Third Amended 
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Complaint, to assure to all members of the Class that they were a part of a "viable federation" of 

condominium associations and that their direct real estate interests in and to the Recreation 

Campus common elements were "protected" and "furthered" as required by the Articles of PGCA, 

Exhibit 1 hereto. 

78. As a proximate and foreseeable result of Klimas’ breaches of fiduciary duties, 

Plaintiffs and the Class have been damaged.  The damages to Plaintiffs and the Class were caused 

by Klimas’ breaches of said fiduciary duties. 

             WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs individually, and as members of the putative Class, demand 

judgment against Defendant Klimas, for compensatory damages, costs, prejudgment interest, and 

any and all other damages and relief which is permitted by law and which the Court deems just 

and proper. 

COU!T III – !egligence of Association 
 

79. Plaintiffs reallege paragraphs 1 through 50 as if fully set forth herein and further 

allege as follows: 

80. At all times material hereto, the Number 2 Association owed a duty of due care to 

Plaintiffs and the Class, considering its direct participation in the business operations of PGCA 

made for the benefit of the entire Class. 

81. As a result of the position of trust assumed by the Number 2 Association as set forth 

in this Third Amended Complaint, and the confidence reposed in it by Plaintiffs and the putative 

Class, the Number 2 Association owed each of them a fiduciary duty of fidelity, good faith, 

honesty, full disclosure and fair dealing. As a result of these obligations, the Association had an 

obligation to discharge its duties in a careful and prudent manner. 

82. From at least 2020 to the present, the Number 2 Association was negligent in the 

discharge of its obligations to Plaintiffs and the Class by: 1) allowing the diversion or stealing of 
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monies belonging to the Number 2 Association; 2) failing to investigate the theft or diversion of 

monies belonging to the Number 2 Association; 3) failing to pursue claims against persons or 

entities for the loss or theft of the Number 2 Association’s monies, including failing to initiate 

claims relating to insurance coverage for such losses; 4) failing to take appropriate measures to 

safeguard the property and assets of the Number 2 Association; 5) failing to obtain fair market 

value for the sale or disposition of the assets of Number 1 Association, Number 2 Association and 

Delray Trails to Outside Developers including but not limited to 13th Floor; 6) failing to institute 

legal action against Outside Developers, including, but not limited to, 13th Floor, or to otherwise 

protect the Class, given the Outside Developers' failure to comply with their contractual 

obligations to the Class; and 7) failing, as a result of the misconduct alleged in this Third Amended 

Complaint, to use reasonable care to assure to all members of the Class that they were a part of a 

"viable federation" of condominium associations and that their direct real estate interests in and to 

the Recreation Campus common elements were "protected" and "furthered" as required by the 

Articles of PGCA, Exhibit 1 hereto. 

83. As a proximate and foreseeable result of the Association’s negligence, Plaintiffs 

and the Class have been damaged.  The damages to Plaintiffs and the Class were caused by the 

Association’s negligence. 

             WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs individually, and as members of the putative Class, demand 

judgment against the Association for compensatory damages, costs, prejudgment interest, and any 

and all other damages and relief which is permitted by law and which the Court deems just and 

proper. 

COU!T IV  
Conspiracy To Defraud Against All Defendants Except !umber 2 Association 

 
84. Plaintiffs reallege paragraphs 1 through 50 as if fully set forth herein and further 
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allege as follows:  

85. At all material times, Defendants Sandra Klimas, Robert Thom, Robert Stern, 

Anthony DiGennaro, Charles Cohn, Yahuda Israel, Rochelle Cohen, Charles Cohn, Thomas 

Aldridge, Susan Herman, Becker Ballot and Becker & Poliakoff (hereinafter collectively "the co-

conspirators" or "co-conspirator Defendants") was the agent, servant and co-conspirator of each 

other and all acts and omissions set forth herein were done and achieved pursuant to and with the 

intent to further the conspiracy to commit fraud and violate fiduciary duty alleged herein. The 

conspiracy engaged in by these Defendants as agents of each other has been fraudulent in nature 

and intentionally designed to harm the Number 2 Association and to conceal the nature and extent 

of the fraud.   

86. From and after in or about the calendar year 2020, the co-conspirators implemented 

a fraudulent scheme which would have otherwise been exposed by the extraordinary financial 

problems they created within the operations of Number 2 Association had a forensic audit been 

allowed or had transparency occurred.  

87. The purpose of the scheme was to divert money from the Number 2 Association for 

their own benefit and to cover up financial problems with respect to the Number 2 Association, 

while seizing (and assisting others in seizing) assets owned and controlled by the Recreation 

Association, with the expectation of financial gain or compensation.  

88. All told, the co-conspirators presided over more than $1.5 millions of diversions of 

financial assets of the Number 2 Association from and after the calendar year 2020, as well as 

millions of dollars of depleted reserve accounts.  

89. As of the current day, the diversions of assets of the Number 2 Association 

continue, with the co-conspirators working in concert to ensure their ability to conceal past thefts 
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and mismanagement by refusing numerous requests for a forensic audit by members of the Class 

while at the same time continuing to engage in diversions of assets and monies and malfeasance. 

90. The fraudulent scheme of the co-conspirators also includes their actions in 

unlawfully relinquishing from members of the Class, without their knowledge or approval, 

substantial real estate rights, land rights and legal rights owned by them.  These land rights are 

owned by all members of the Class pursuant to the applicable conveyances of record in the Palm 

Beach County Recorder's Office providing that all members of the Class have direct ownership 

interests in all recreational land owned or controlled by the Recreation Corporation appertaining 

or relating to the businesses of the Number 1 Association and Number 2 Association and Delray 

Trails, as set forth in detail in this Third Amended Complaint and reflected in Exhibits 2 and 3. 

91. The co-conspirators' scheme also involves allowing the Recreation Facilities to 

deteriorate in an effort to seize control of the Recreation Corporation-funds and assets so they can 

conceal the shortfalls caused by their diversion of monies and malfeasance.  

92. The co-conspirators also have failed to enforce contractual rights against Outside 

Developers, including 13th Floor Investments, LLC because of compensation or other 

considerations conferred upon them. This is despite their knowledge that the contracts contain 

unambiguous commitments on the part of the Outside Developers that obligated the Outside 

Developers to have undertaken significant and costly renovations to the entire Recreation Campus 

for the benefit not only of the Class but also for new homeowners associated with Delray Trails.   

93. Because of the aforementioned conspiracy, these contractual obligations have been 

violated, costing the Class significant damages. 

94. Starting as early as 2021, Plaintiffs began contacting the co-conspirator Defendants 

in order to confront them about their defalcations, diversions and runaway spending of Association 
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money as well as other actions that appeared to be detrimental to the real estate and fiscal interests 

of Plaintiffs and the Class, including, but not limited to, the actions set forth above.  

95. Indeed, during the past four years, the co-conspirators have done more than 

participate in diverting more than $1.5 million but have also (for example) admittedly been 

involved in the preparation, processing or covering up of phony invoices amounting to 

$440,909.00 representing money diverted from the Association. At Klimas' direction, and with the 

help of all of the co-conspirators, the Association has at all times failed and refused to investigate 

or pursue — in any way, shape or form — an insurance, bonding or other claim to recover back 

these monies for the benefit of Plaintiffs and the putative Class as same would have exposed their 

scheme.  

96. During this period, if Plaintiffs had learned of the actual, precarious financial 

position of the Association and the failure to protect the Association’s legal interests against the 

Outside Developers as a result of the foregoing schemes, Plaintiffs could have attempted to recall 

or vote the co-conspirators out of their positions of management for the Association and taken 

other actions to protect their and the Class’s legal rights thus mitigating the damage that was 

caused.   

97. Knowing this, the co-conspirators intensified their efforts to conceal and at the same 

time further their fraudulent scheme starting in the middle of 2022.  As set forth below, the 

fraudulent scheme included additional takings by the co-conspirators, to the detriment of the Class, 

of additional money and additional real estate interests worth at least $20 million with neither 

Class approval nor any legal right to do so. 

The Fraudulent Misrepresentations 

A. Misrepresentations About Fiscal Matters 
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98. Specifically, Plaintiffs began in early 2022 questioning both Sandra Klimas and her 

co-conspirator Rob Thom about the foregoing matters, only to receive repeated assurances by them 

(or by those acting on their behalf) that there were no financial problems within the Association, 

and that the Outside Developers were complying with their contractual obligations. Nevertheless, 

Plaintiff's concerns persisted into the fourth quarter of 2022, because Klimas and Thom 

consistently refused to permit forensic audits to be conducted in order to learn the truth about 

where all the money was going. The Association has been receiving some $400,000.00 every 

month in automatic, repetitive income, yet it has consistently experienced financial problems for 

at least four years. At the same time that they were being confronted, the co-conspirators 

accelerated their fraud in actively attempting to cover up certain items of theft of Association funds 

that they had participated in.  

99. On behalf of the putative Class, Plaintiff Arthur Robins directly confronted both 

Klimas and Thom in the latter half of 2022 regarding the foregoing conditions, once again calling 

out and mentioning the untenable financial mismanagement and fiscal problems of the Association 

as a result of Klimas' stewardship. The response from Klimas, and from those acting on her behalf, 

to Mr. Robins' inquiry substantially extended the fraud by inducing inaction on the part of Mr. 

Robins and the putative Class. Indeed, in the autumn of 2022, Mr. Robins confronted numerous 

persons within the group of fiduciaries and their associates, including Klimas and Thom, regarding 

substantial financial improprieties that were suspected of existing within the Association to the 

detriment of the Class. The purpose of Mr. Robins' decision to push to a head the issue of the 

Association's financial condition was to assure that any continuing harm to the putative Class could 

be arrested immediately. Indeed, at this point, the Association had already experienced a 

substantial special assessment levied against its members in 2021 at the direction of Defendants 
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Klimas and Thom, and any unwarranted fiscal expenditures would be seriously detrimental to 

Plaintiffs and the Class. Furthermore, any delays by the Outside Developers in complying with 

their contractual promises would likewise irreparably harm Plaintiffs and Class members by 

compelling the Class to come up with significant funds to maintain aging buildings expected to be 

replaced or renovated by the Outside Developers pursuant to their contracts with the Recreation 

Association. 

100. As a result of Plaintiffs' efforts, from early September 2022 to mid-October 2022, 

Klimas traversed the community within the Association and made representations to numerous 

people, including Plaintiff Arthur Robins, that the Association had no financial issues of any kind 

and was financially healthy. Klimas insisted on numerous occasions that Mr. Robins should 

apologize for alleging that financial problems had arisen with respect to Klimas' stewardship of 

the Association. The strategy of Klimas was to embarrass and therefore silence Mr. Robins and 

anybody else by being condescending and demeaning which has always been part and parcel of 

her strategy in dealing with dozens of residents throughout the community who questioned her 

actions with respect to the Association. 

101.  On September 17, 2022, at Klimas' direction and with her prior approval, Thom 

wrote an email to Mr. Robins confirming the representations Thom and Klimas had been making 

regarding the fiscal soundness of the Association under Klimas' stewardship. In his September 17, 

2022, email, Thom represented that any statement to the effect that the Association under Klimas' 

stewardship was or would soon be in "trouble financially" was and is a "totally inaccurate 

statement." A true and correct copy of Thom's email is appended hereto as Exhibit 4.  Thom made 

the same representation in Association community meetings and otherwise throughout the 

Association's community during this period on at least fifty occasions. 
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102. Doubling down on her fraudulent scheme, Klimas knew that Thom alone could not 

by himself completely persuade Mr. Robins, and others in the putative Class on whose behalf Mr. 

Robins was acting, to look the other way regarding the suspected financial issues. Accordingly, on 

October 9, 2023, Defendant Sandra Klimas sent an email to Mr. Robins stating flatly and 

confidently that the Association "do[es] not have financial issues," which – according to Klimas – 

was "why [she] did the special assessments last year to build up our operating funds to a point 

where we are in a very strong financial position."  A true and correct copy of Sandra Klimas' 

October 9, 2022, email is appended hereto as Exhibit 5. 

103.  In addition to the foregoing misrepresentations, Klimas also misrepresented the 

actual state of and amount of reserve and cash balances held by the Association on January 1, 

2022, January 1, 2023, and January 1, 2024, overreporting the amounts of available reserves by at 

least $1,500,000.00 according to proof. These misrepresentations by Klimas were made orally and 

in writing to all members of the Class not only on the foregoing dates but at all times since the 

foregoing dates through the constant and daily dissemination of these reserve and cash balances 

through the Association's publicly available Website.  

      B.  Misrepresentations About Putative Class’s Real Estate 

104.  Furthermore throughout 2021 and 2022, Klimas also made significant 

misrepresentations to all members of the putative Class regarding some $20 million of real estate 

development commitments made expressly for the benefit of the putative Class involving 

obligations of the Outside Developers, including 13th Floor Investments, LLC. Continuously 

throughout this period, Klimas represented to Robins, Saffer and members of the putative Class 

that these commitments and obligations made for the benefit of the putative Class would be 

complied with as set forth in a contract between the parties.  The most important of these 
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representations made by Klimas was her representation that the $20 million of construction work 

to be done for the benefit of the Class would "begin before" the real estate developers started 

extracting money from their contract made for the Class’s benefit, through the "vertical 

construction" of brand-new houses by such Outside Developers. This representation by Klimas, 

which was made to induce the Class to believe that the contractual obligations with the Outside 

Developers were being complied with, was made to Mr. Robins on at least September 9, 2021, 

December 23, 2021, February 24, 2021, March 6, 2022, and March 31, 2022.  The purpose of these 

representations was to induce inaction by Mr. Robins and by the putative Class in order to permit 

the Outside Developers to avoid paying over to the Class their financially required consideration 

pursuant to applicable contracts they had entered into. The foregoing representations were made 

on the dates indicated either directly by Klimas or at Klimas' direction through persons acting in 

association with Klimas and at her direction, including Defendants Thomas Aldridge, Susan 

Herman and Robert Thom. 

     C.  Falsity And Fraud Associated With Misrepresentations 

105. All of the foregoing misrepresentations and fraudulent activities made or directed 

by Klimas chronicled and set forth throughout paragraphs 98 through 104 above were knowingly 

false and fraudulent at the time they were undertaken by Klimas or at her direction, and each of 

the co-conspirators participated in the fraud as set forth hereinbelow. Klimas lied in this manner 

in order to achieve the objectives of her scheme, which was to divert the maximum amount of 

money from the Number 2 Association, to cover up such monetary diversions, and then to assist 

the Outside Developers in the quest by the Outside Developers to screw the Class out of at least 

$20 million of contractual promises made for the benefit of the Class. In addition, the true facts – 

facts never disclosed by Klimas to Plaintiffs or the Class – were at all material times that Klimas 
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knew and intended that she was going to use her senior position within the Number 2 Association 

to cause all contractual commitments of the Outside Developers to be forgiven or substantially 

watered down in derogation of the rights of the Class and so as to assist Klimas in her financial 

schemes involving the diversion of Association capital. 

106.  The falsity of the foregoing representations was concealed from each of Mr. 

Robins and all Class members. Indeed, Klimas – individually and at her direction through her 

associates and co-conspirators – continued throughout the period in making oral and written 

statements designed to camouflage the ongoing fraud regarding these $20 million of commitments 

by the Outside Developers and for the benefit of the Class. For example, when members of the 

putative Class questioned Klimas regarding why the Outside Developers were pulling millions of 

dollars of money and benefits out of the contract without providing any of the agreed-upon value 

to the Class, Klimas changed her narrative and falsely arranged for additional false representations 

to be made to putative Class members, including in representations made on December 14, 2022 

and January 20, 2023, (a) that "project timing" was not in any way covered under the contract, (b) 

that the contract with the Outside Developers does not require renovation of the Recreation 

Facilities (including building the new 30,000 clubhouse) to begin prior to any construction of new 

homes to be owned by Outside Developers and (c) Klimas' prior misrepresentations were 

inaccurate because the Outside Developers' obligation to start construction on modifications to the 

Recreation Facilities could be satisfied in toto by "tear[ing] down the old golf building." All of the 

foregoing admissions or representations were made directly by Klimas or at Klimas' direction by 

associates or co-conspirators of hers, including Defendants Thomas Aldridge and Robert Thom.  

After it was too late for the Class to protect themselves, Klimas finally authorized the admission 

to the Class on February 26, 2023, that the Outside Developers' construction of new homes would 
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ultimately be completed "years" before the requisite Recreation Facility renovations might be 

completed.  

107.  In late 2023, co-conspirator Becker & Poliakoff – acting through an attorney 

named Mark Friedman, Esq. – specifically represented to lawyers investigating the foregoing 

course of events that no diversions of assets or wrongdoing had occurred. At the time Mr. Friedman 

made this representation, he knew that the representation was false.  The true facts were that Mr. 

Friedman and Becker & Poliakoff knew that the rest of the co-conspirators had been engaging in 

monetary diversions and intentional mismanagement for many years, and that Mr. Friedman and 

Becker & Poliakoff needed such misconduct to continue to assure that their representation as 

counsel to Number 2 Association would continue.  The further true facts were that Mr. Friedman 

concealed from the persons investigating the aforementioned criminal behavior the fact that he and 

his law firm were going out of their way to conceal the truth regarding the Thom and Klimas-led 

fraud because whenever Becker & Poliakoff ceases being counsel to the Number 2 Association it 

knows – and has openly discussed with members of the conspiracy – that it will be terminated as 

counsel, sued for legal malpractice and that its communications with Number 2 Association dating 

back to the beginning of the conspiracy will become more readily discoverable. 

108.  In furtherance of its role in the conspiracy, Becker & Poliakoff took extensive 

actions since 2020 designed to interfere with life safety work in and around the Recreation 

Campus. They did this pursuant to the same course of conduct that resulted in liability to Becker 

& Poliakoff in the well-publicized surfside condominium collapse involving working to stop 

monetary expenditures regarding client-condominium associations for Becker & Poliakoff's own 

internal business reasons.  The assistance of Becker & Poliakoff has resulted in what expert 

witnesses have described as a risk of death or serious bodily injury in and around the Palm Greens 
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development, and indeed members of the Class have been injured in part as a result of Becker & 

Poliakoff's interference with life safety efforts.  

109. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that the foregoing misconduct 

was implemented in order for the co-conspirators to receive value or compensation from the 

Outside Developers. After finally receiving discovery regarding this case following a year of 

litigation thus far where the Defendants have produced zero pages of documents, Plaintiffs will 

amend this Third Amended Complaint to allege the full panoply of benefits received by the co-

conspirators as a result of their fraudulent plan to assist the Outside Developers and stealing land 

and contractual rights from the Class. 

 Conspiratorial Roles And Actions 

       Robert Thom's Role In The Conspiracy 

110.  Just as he knowingly lied to the Class in his email, Exhibit 4 hereto, Robert Thom 

was integral to the conspiracy until shortly after the filing of this lawsuit in late 2023.  Thom was 

involved in and approved each and every act of monetary diversion and defalcation set forth in 

this Complaint, acting closely with Klimas and in concert with her. Thom further was involved in 

and approved the diversion of real estate assets away from the Class and in favor of the Outside 

Developers as alleged herein. Thom's purpose in performing the foregoing unlawful actions was 

to assist in Klimas' unlawful scheme to divert money and assets from the Association and then to 

cover up the wrongdoing. 

111. Although Rob Thom left the Palm Greens community and resigned from the 

Number 2 Association in early 2024, he continues to be actively involved in the conspiracy.   Thom 

caused official filings to be made for PGCA with the State of Florida bearing the name of attorney 

Peter Sachs even though Sachs never authorized the filing, and in doing so Thom violated the civil 
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and criminal laws of the State of Florida.   Thom continues to attempt to manipulate and interfere 

with the contracts with Outside Developers even though he has fled the Palm Greens community.   

112. Despite having resigned all positions regarding Number 2 Association and PGCA, 

Thom continues acting for the benefit of the co-conspirators by filing official documents of PGCA 

with the State of Florida, with the approval and consent of all members of the conspiracy.  

113. Thom intentionally rendered PGCA insolvent so that it could no longer conduct 

business as a result of the fraudulent scheme set forth in the Third Amended Complaint. 

114. On information and belief, Thom has moved into a community developed by 

Lennar – which is benefitting in some manner from the contract and sale of Association assets to 

13th Floor.  

115.  Given his moving away from the Association, Thom has taken on a reduced role 

in the day-to-day aspects of implementing the conspiracy, but he expects to receive personal 

benefits or compensation resulting from the scheme to divert the monies and assets of the 

Association.       

Robert Stern Joins The Conspiracy 

116.  Defendant Robert Stern joined the conspiracy in or about May of 2022. 

117.  Stern's role as a co-conspirator has been to assist his co-conspirators in preventing 

any member of the Class from uncovering the financial defalcations of Klimas, as well as to assist 

in preventing any kind of forensic audit to be conducted with respect to the Association so as to 

attempt to forever hide the diversions of funds, including, but not limited to, the diversion of 

$440,909.00 of Association funds by his co-conspirators – a sum which the co-conspirators 

conceded in May of 2021 was somehow "lost."  

118. Stern purports to be a “financial professional” with experience in accounting.  As 
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such he was integral to the fraud scheme in that, throughout 2022 and 2023, he assured Members 

of the Association, the Class and Plaintiffs that he had investigated and that there had been no theft 

or malfeasance while all the while knowing this not to be true. 

119. The foregoing is despite the fact that members of the Association and Class 

members were concerned about the financial condition of the Association and the assessments 

being implemented against members of the Association.   

120.  Stern resigned from the Board of the Association shortly after the filing of this 

lawsuit by the Class.  Nevertheless, Stern continues to engage in the conspiracy and assist in the 

cover up of the theft and malfeasance of his co-conspirators with the intention of obtaining 

financial compensations or other benefits.  

Thomas Aldridge's and Susan Herman's Place In The Conspiracy 

121.  Defendants Thomas Aldridge and Susan Herman have been involved in the 

conspiracy since at least March 2019, when Aldridge in furtherance of the conspiracy, signed the 

contract with the Outside Developers on behalf of affiliates of the Recreation Corporation. Their 

involvement included the founding and substantial control over PGCA to the detriment of all 

members of the Class.  

122.  Herman was involved even before then and was an architect of the conspiracy.  She 

lied to members of the Class as to Klimas' motivation for the relinquishment of the Association’s 

assets to Outside Developers as well as regarding the actual financial commitments and contractual 

obligations of the Outside Developers.   

123.  Both Aldridge and Herman have intentionally misled the members of the Class 

regarding the Outside Developers' commitments to the Class in order to obtain votes by Class 

members approving the contract with the Outside Developers and to string along Class members 
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so they would not realize the harm that was befalling them regarding the Outside Developers' 

unlawful intentions, until it was too late.  In doing so, they expected to receive financial 

compensation and benefits. 

124.  At all times following Aldridge's execution of the contract with Outside 

Developers, he and Herman have misrepresented to the Class the actual intentions of the Outside 

Developers with respect to their obligations under the contract benefitting Class members.  

125.  Aldridge and Herman have done this to further the conspiracy and to assist the co-

conspirators in diverting funds and taking property rights away from members of the Class. For 

example, in order to induce inaction on the part of the Class, Susan Herman represented to Class 

members in March of 2022 that the Outside Developers had committed that construction of the 

new recreation facilities- Clubhouse would begin before the Outside Developers even started 

construction of the housing units abutting the Association, Number 1 Association and the 

Recreation Corporation. This representation by Herman to the entirety of the Class was made by 

her during the critical period where the Outside Developers had agreed with the co-conspirators 

that they were going to breach their obligations to the Class and deprive them of the approximately 

$20 million of contractual benefits owed them.  In return for this, the Outside Developers agreed 

to confer compensation and/or benefits on the co-conspirators, according to proof.   

126.  Once Herman induced members of the Class to forgo their rights during what she 

and Aldridge felt was a critical period, Aldridge and Herman then interfaced directly with the 

Outside Developers and assured them that it was acceptable for them to violate the contract made 

for the benefit of the Class. Among other illegal acts, Aldridge and Herman were among those co-

conspirators who approved of the unlawful promise made to the Outside Developers that by the 

Outside Developers obtaining "a permit to demolish the old golf building" the Outside Developers 
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had "fulfilled" their obligations under the contract. A true and correct copy of Aldridge's 

confirmation of this fraudulent and illegal promise, authored by Aldridge in early 2024, is 

appended hereto as Exhibit 6.   

127.  As evidence of her guilt, Herman has admitted under oath to have destroyed all 

papers in her possession regarding her time spent negotiating the transaction with the Outside 

Developers as well as regarding her time spent working for the Association over a period of nearly 

a decade. 

128.  Simultaneously, Herman and Aldridge have assisted in concealing the financial 

defalcations of Association capital set forth above.  

Yahuda Israel, aka Janice Smith, aka Tirtzah Israel 

129.  Defendant Yahuda Israel has participated in the conspiracy with a purpose not 

only of preventing discovery of the actual financial diversions of the co-conspirators but also 

endeavored to keep her co-conspirators in power on the Board of Directors in the hope of 

concealing and furthering the conspiracy.   

130. In carrying out her role in the conspiracy, Yahuda Israel agreed to and did in 

fact participate in proliferating defamatory information in connection with a recent election of the 

Board of Directors of the Association despite knowing that doing so violated Florida 

Administrative Code, Rule 61B-23-0021(7). 

131. Israel conspired to include and maintain fraudulent information in the candidate 

information sheet of candidate Marge Fattori, with the stated goal of assuring that members of the 

Association and members of the Class would not and could not uncover the wrongful scheme 

which was the object of the conspiracy.  

132. Without Yahuda Israel's involvement as set forth herein, the fraudulent election 
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would not have happened and the putative Class likely would have learned about the Association's 

fraud and violation of Florida Administrative Code, Rule 61B-23-0021(7) ahead of time. 

Rochelle Cohen's Joinder In Conspiracy 

133. Defendant Rochelle Cohen has participated in each portion of the conspiracy.   

134. Cohen participated in misrepresenting to the Class the obligations of the Outside 

Developers with respect to the contract as well as hiding Aldridge's intention to permit the Outside 

Developers to steal real estate rights from the Class.  

135. These misrepresentations were made to groups of Class members and separately to 

Arthur Robins throughout the period of the conspiracy and served to substantially enhance the 

impact and effectiveness of the conspiracy. Cohen's malfeasance in this regard has been done 

exclusively to assist her co-conspirators in diverting funds and taking property rights away from 

members of the Class while at the same time gaining compensation or benefits for herself.  

136. Among Cohen's acts of malfeasance in furtherance of the conspiracy was her 

participation in permitting the Outside Developers to violate the contract made for the benefit of 

the Class. Indeed, Cohen approved, on behalf of the conspirator-participants, the illegal promise 

made to the Outside Developers that by obtaining "a permit to demolish the old golf building" the 

Outside Developers had "fulfilled" their obligations under the contract to the detriment of the 

Plaintiffs and the Class and to the benefit of the Outside Developers and in exchange for financial 

compensation and benefits to Cohen and her co-conspirators.   

DiGennaro And The Conspiracy 

137. Anthony DiGennaro has been actively involved in the conspiracy since its outset.  

DiGennaro's role has been to act in concert with his co-conspirators by voting in lockstep with 

them while on the Board of Directors regardless of the merits of the issue or agenda item under 
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consideration.   

138. DiGennaro's further conspiratorial role has been to hide and conceal the monetary 

diversions of money practiced against the Association by his co-conspirators, as well as to actively 

working to prevent any forensic audit to be done with respect to the Association. DiGennaro has 

undertaken these actions with the sole purpose of furthering the conspiracy in hiding monetary 

diversions while benefiting himself through compensation or other benefits. 

Charles Cohn's Involvement 

139.  Conspirator Charles Cohn accepted the important treasurer role on the Board of 

the Association while knowing that no proper Board action had occurred which would permit him 

to accept that position.  Cohn did so, however, with the intent of furthering the conspiracy and 

aiding his co-conspirators.  

140. Cohn assisted in covering up his co-conspirators' monetary diversions and actively 

worked to bury documents and information that might ultimately reveal them to the Class in 

exchange for compensation or other benefits. 

141. Cohn has since resigned from his treasurer role after admitting to Plaintiff Arthur 

Robins that his co-conspirators were engaged in wrongdoing.  

Becker & Poliakoff's Role 

142. As set forth in detail throughout this Third Amended Complaint, Becker &  

Poliakoff's role in the conspiracy to defraud was in essence to take affirmative action to 

misrepresent to the outside world the truth and cover up what it knew were defalcations and 

diversions of assets of Number 2 Association in violation of the commitments set forth in the 

Articles of PGCA, Exhibit 1 hereto, the Bylaws of Number 2 Association and the Recreation 

Association, and the civil and criminal laws of the State of Florida.  This role was primarily 
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implemented by Mark Friedman, Esq. and Joseph Arena, Esq. with assistance from partners at the 

firm senior to them and included the destruction of evidence and knowing falsehoods to outside 

persons honestly investigating and attempting to assist Number 2 Association in successfully 

operating and working through apparent operational difficulties.  

143. Without Becker & Poliakoff's decision to hide unlawful defalcations of capital and 

openly lie to persons with whom it decided to interact with, the conspiracy implemented by the 

Individual Defendants would have been unable to continue and would have been abated far earlier.  

The imprimatur of a well-known lawyer was required by the Individual Defendants in order to 

continue their theft and other misconduct, and Becker & Poliakoff knowingly gave the Individual 

Defendants that imprimatur with malice and for unlawful means in order to continue the operation 

of the conspiracy as set forth fully in this Third Amended Complaint. 

Reasonable Reliance 

144. Plaintiffs and all Class members were ignorant of the aforementioned fraudulent 

and malicious scheme and were ignorant of the fraudulent misrepresentations that went along with 

the fraudulent scheme as set forth above. 

145. Plaintiffs and all Class members were further ignorant of the ways in which the 

co-conspirator Defendants were actively lying to them and breaking the law, were actively 

participating in theft of assets, were actively covering up the theft, and were otherwise violating 

their solemn fiduciary duties to do the right thing where assets of the Class were concerned.  

146. Instead, Plaintiffs and all Class members believed the representations made by 

the co-conspirators as set forth above were true and correct and relied on same, as well as relying 

on their fidelity as fiduciaries. 
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Damages  

147. As a proximate and foreseeable result of the conspiracy to defraud and violate 

fiduciary duty practiced upon Plaintiffs and the Class by the co-conspirator Defendants, Plaintiffs 

and the Class have been damaged in an unknown sum according to proof. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs individually, and members of the putative Class, demand 

judgment against Defendants Klimas, Thom, Aldridge, Herman, Cohen, DiGennaro and Israel, 

jointly and severally, for compensatory and special damages, costs, prejudgment interest, and all 

other damages and relief which is permitted by law and which the Court deems just and proper.  

COU!T V – Statutory Election Challenge Pursuant To 
Fla. Stat. 718.112(4)(c) Against The !umber 2 Association  

 
148.  Plaintiffs reallege Paragraphs 1 through 50 as if fully set forth herein, and further 

allege as follows:  

149.  On January 31, 2024, the Number 2 Association held an election, the voting of 

which began during the period preceding January 31, 2024, pursuant to the Florida Condominium 

Act. 

150.  Pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 718.112(2)(d)(4)(c), any condominium election challenge 

must be initiated within 60 days following the announcements of election results. 

151.  On January 16, 2024, Plaintiffs challenged the aforementioned election while it 

was still ongoing by filing their Complaint prior to the voting tabulation on January 31, 2024.  See, 

e.g., Dkt. No. 47, Plaintiff's First Amended Complaint, filed with the Court on January 16, 2023, 

paragraphs 80, 83 and 87, which is incorporated by reference and made a part hereof as if fully set 

forth herein. 

152.  In addition to the foregoing election challenge, on March 20, 2024, representatives 

of Plaintiffs formally initiated an arbitral election challenge pursuant to the provisions of Fla. Stat. 
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§718.1255(4) within 60 days following the January 31, 2024, election tabulation announcement 

by the Defendants. While recognizing that Plaintiffs had timely initiated their election challenge 

pursuant to Section 718.1255(4), the Florida Department of Business Regulation denied the 

petition on April 4, 2024 for the reason that it found the Association needed to receive more 

comprehensive notification than the notification represented (a) by the case at bar and (b) by the 

pre-arbitration letter sent to the Number 2 Association by Plaintiffs.  Nevertheless, the Florida 

Department of Business Regulation held that Plaintiffs could "file a new Petition by 5:00 p.m. on 

April 15, 2024." (A true and correct copy of the pre-arbitration notification letter found to be 

inadequate by the State of Florida is appended hereto as Exhibit 7.) 

153.  On April 4, 2024, Plaintiffs served the Number 2 Association a notification letter 

as required by law and as required by the State of Florida in its interlocutory ruling regarding 

Plaintiffs' election challenge. (A true and correct copy of the letter is attached hereto as Exhibit 8.) 

154.  Neither the Number 2 Association nor any of the Defendants responded to either 

of the notification letters, Exhibits 7 and 8, nor did they deny any of the allegations contained 

therein regarding the per se fraudulent election purportedly occurring on January 31, 2024. 

155.  In compliance with the April 4, 2024, order from the Florida Department of 

Business Regulation, Plaintiffs filed, on April 15, 2024, a brand-new petition to arbitrate the 

January 31, 2024, election of the Number 2 Association based in part on the new notification to 

the Association, Exhibit 8 hereto. 

156.  With respect to Plaintiffs' April 15, 2024, arbitral petition, the Florida Department 

of Business Regulation found the election challenge to be timely but dismissed the petition finding 

that the case at bar before this Court represents a more proper, prior-in-time, election challenge 

that could create "conflicting rulings" to those that might be rendered pursuant to a State of Florida 
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condominium election-arbitration. The Florida Department of Business Regulation further held 

that it "does not have … jurisdiction to address all the issues, and the authority to provide the relief 

that may be required to resolve the entire election dispute between the Parties." It therefore 

deferred to this Court in terms of adjudicating Plaintiffs' timely election challenge against the 

Association. 

157.  Now that the January 31, 2024, Number 2 Association election has been 

completed, it is clear that the election was fraudulent and must be declared void.  

158.  Becker Ballot was hired to conduct the bulk of the election and as such was 

responsible for managing the electronic voting facilities in connection with the Association's 

election.  

159.  Instead of conducting a fair and impartial election, Becker Ballot, in violation of 

Fla. Stat. §718.128 and associated administrative regulations promulgated by Florida 

condominium officials, provided members of the Association, who had voting rights, with dead 

email addresses of Becker Ballot so that their votes would not be counted.   

160.  On January 5, 2024, counsel for Plaintiffs sent a letter to Respondent Becker & 

Poliakoff (which owns and/or controls Becker Ballot) informing it that Becker Ballot had provided 

dead email addresses to Number 2 Association residents in connection with electronic voting at 

the upcoming election.  In Petitioners' January 5, 2024, letter, Petitioners asked Becker Ballot or 

Becker & Poliakoff to fulfill their obligations and provide accurate email addresses to the residents 

of the Number 2 Association so that they might be able to vote. These Becker Entities disregarded 

the letter and proceeded with the election knowing that they were divesting countless members of 

the Number 2 Association of their right to vote.  The Becker Entities also disregarded a request 

that the members be permitted to hire an independent monitor, apart from that selected by the 
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Board, to monitor the election for irregularities.  See, e.g., Exhibits 9 and 10 attached hereto. 

161.  Through operation of the fraudulent January 31, 2024 election, the Individual 

Defendants hoped to further a plan to seize control of the Recreation Corporation with the intention 

of taking control over the Recreation Corporation reserve funds in order to use same to conceal 

their fraud and the financial problems they caused at the Number 2 Association and also to quell 

any attempts to sue the Outside Developers for their breaches of their contractual obligations.  The 

Number Association knew of the foregoing plans. 

162.   Further evidence of the illegal, and thus void, election can be found in the 

presentation of candidates for the election. Klimas and Thom conspired with election candidate 

Marge Fattori to include fraudulent and false information about Mr. Robins in Fattori's information 

sheet distributed to the Association's residents pursuant to Florida Administrative Code, Rule 61B-

23.0021(7). A true and correct copy of Fattori's one page information sheet is attached hereto as 

Exhibit 11.  

163.   Fattori has since testified at deposition that Thom gave her the false claim alleging 

forgery against Mr. Robins in his operation of the Recreation Corporation so that Fattori could 

include that in her information sheet and thus defeat Robins at the election.  Fattori and Thom 

knew this information was false at the time it was included on Fattori’s information sheet.  

164.  Thom undertook these actions while acting on behalf of the Association in 

violation of Rule 61B-23-0021(7).  

165.   The information sheet Fattori submitted in support of her election under Rule 61B-

23.0021(7) contained highlighted language claiming that Plaintiff Arthur Robins – who at the time 

was the President and Board Member of the Recreation Association – had taken Number 2 

"Association documents'' and "altered" them "without a public vote." Id. Fattori and Thom knew 
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this information to be false. 

166.  This false allegation of forgery against Mr. Robins violates Florida Administrative 

Code, Rule 61B-23.0021, voids the election and requires the Court to order a new election be held.   

167.  In order to guarantee success in their fraud, the Number 2 Association and the 

Becker Entities also permitted certain residents to vote multiple times for the same candidate 

during the election-voting process.  

168.   As a result of the foregoing fraudulent election, Fattori claims to have been elected 

to a position on the Recreation Board instead of Plaintiff Arthur Robins. 

169.   Following the election, Klimas, the Number 2 Association and the Becker Entities 

failed and refused to furnish any information establishing the propriety of the election, despite 

promising to do so.  Instead, during the ballot tabulation on January 31, 2024, Klimas stated to 

numerous concerned residents that representatives of the State of Florida were present in the hall 

for the election tabulation and were making sure no fraud was afoot. This representation was 

knowingly false at the time it was made. These representations were made not only by Sandra 

Klimas but by others acting in concert with her. 

170.  As a result of the fraudulent election maintained by the Number 2 Association on 

January 31, 2024, Plaintiffs are entitled to temporary, preliminary and permanent injunctive relief 

restraining and enjoining the persons allegedly elected thereby to take or hold office within the 

Number 2 Association, or otherwise, directly or indirectly until such a time as a lawful election 

can be held. 

        WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs individually, and members of the putative Class, demand judgment 

against Defendant the Number 2 Association for temporary, preliminary and permanent injunctive 

relief restraining and enjoining the persons allegedly elected thereby to take or hold office within 
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the Association and ordering that a new lawful election be held, and that this Court grant any and 

all other relief which this Court deems just and proper.   

COU!T VI - Statutory Violations Against 
 Klimas, Thom, Aldridge, Herman, and DiGennaro  

 
171.  Plaintiffs reallege Paragraphs 1 through 50 as if fully set forth herein, and further 

allege as follows:  

172.   At all material times, Defendants Klimas, Thom, Aldridge, Herman and 

DiGennaro served as members of the Board of Directors of the Number 2 Association or 

fiduciaries designated by the Number 2 Association and its Board of Directors as agents to carry 

out duties on behalf of the Association. As such, not only did they hold fiduciary duties of the very 

highest character to the Class, but they were obligated to comply with all organizational documents 

of the Number 2 Association, including the Bylaws. Furthermore, at all material times, Defendants 

Klimas, Thom, Aldridge, Herman and DiGennaro served as fiduciaries of PGCA required to 

operate in accordance with PGCA's Articles, Exhibit 1 hereto, for the benefit of all members of 

the Class.  Under the foregoing facts and circumstances and also considering and including 

common ownership of the Recreation Facilities and joint duties and rights vis a vis the Outside 

Developers pursuant to the foregoing Bylaws and Articles of the various entities for which they 

were fiduciaries, each of the Defendants Klimas, Thom, Aldridge, Herman and DiGennaro owed 

solemn fiduciary duties of the highest character to all members of the Class, including residents of 

Number 1 Association, residents of Number 2 Association, and residents of Delray Trails, as well 

as the Recreation Corporation. 

173.   Pursuant to Article 5 of the Bylaws of the Number 2 Association, each of Klimas, 

Thom, Aldridge, Herman and DiGennaro were at all material times obligated and duty-bound to 

comply with all provisions "under Chapters 617 and 718, Florida Statutes […]."  Because PGCA 
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was formed pursuant to Chapter 617, Florida Statute, all of its agents were required to comply with 

all provisions thereof. 

174.  Pursuant to Article 5 of the Bylaws of the Association and under applicable law, 

therefore, each of Klimas, Thom, Aldridge, Herman and DiGennaro were therefore obligated to 

comply with Fla. Stat. § 617.0834 by avoiding taking actions recklessly or in bad faith that might 

affect the Class or otherwise impact those principals with whom Klimas, Thom, Aldridge, Herman 

and DiGennaro had fiduciary relationships under law. 

175.   Klimas, Thom, Aldridge, Herman and DiGennaro were at all material times acting 

as officers, directors or trustees of the PGCA and all of its beneficiaries – including all members 

of the Class – within the meaning of Fla. Stat. §§ 617.0834(2)(b) and (c). 

176.   Also, by reason of Article 5 of the Bylaws and Chapter 617, Florida Statutes, 

Klimas, Thom, Aldridge, Herman and DiGennaro were obligated to comply with Fla. Stat. 

§718.303(d) which prohibited them from "willfully and knowingly failing to comply with" 

applicable law or the Bylaws of PGCA or the Number 2 Association. Indeed, Section 718.303 

creates a private cause of action against any Director who contravenes the foregoing rules. 

177.  At all material times, Klimas, Thom, Aldridge, Herman and DiGennaro were 

Directors within the meaning of Section 718.303 as either being appointed in directorship 

capacities by the Number 2 Association and PGCA or being elected to such a capacity. 

178.   Klimas violated Fla. Stat. §§ 617.0834(2)(b) and (c) as well as Fla. Stat. 

§718.303(d) by, willfully and in bad faith, or at least recklessly, (a) diverting more than $1.5 

millions of Association money over the past four years, including some $440,909.00 reported by 

Klimas as having been "lost" in May of 2021; (b) failing and refusing to conduct any investigation 

or initiate any bonding or insurance claim regarding any of such losses to the Association; (c) 
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deciding on her own, and without approval of any member of the Class, to violate the Association's 

Bylaws by seizing monies earmarked pursuant to the Bylaws for the Recreation Corporation; (d) 

interfering with life, safety repairs to the Recreation Facilities in a manner exhibiting wanton and 

willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property; (e) approving of a breach of some $20 

million of real estate development improvements owed to the Class, contracted for by the Outside 

Developers, again without any vote or approval from Class members or Association residents; and 

(f) acting with actual malice in, throughout the past four years, openly attempting to harm elderly 

Florida citizens by either squeezing them out of their homes, foreclosing them out of their homes 

or taking away their real property interests and rights.  

179.  Thom violated Fla. Stat. §§ 617.0834(2)(b) and (c) as well as Fla. Stat. §718.303(d) 

by willfully and in bad faith, or at least recklessly, (a) diverting more than $1.5 millions of 

Association money over the past four years, including some $440,909.00 reported by Klimas as 

having been "lost" in May of 2021; (b) failing and refusing to conduct any investigation or initiate 

any bonding or insurance claim regarding any of such losses to the Association; (c) deciding on 

his own, and without approval of any member of the Class, to violate the Association's Bylaws by 

seizing monies earmarked pursuant to the Bylaws for the Recreation Corporation; (d) interfering 

with life, safety repairs to the Recreation Facilities in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful 

disregard of human rights, safety, or property; (e) approving of a breach of some $20 million of 

real estate development improvements owed to the Class, contracted for by the Outside 

Developers, again without any vote or approval from Class members or Association residents; and 

(f) acting with actual malice in, throughout the past four years, openly attempting to harm elderly 

Florida citizens by either squeezing them out of their homes, foreclosing them out of their homes 

or taking away their real property interests and rights.  
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180.  Aldridge and Herman violated Fla. Stat. §§ 617.0834(2)(b) and (c) as well as Fla. 

Stat. §718.303(d) by wilfully and in bad faith, or at least recklessly,  (a) working together as far 

back as March of 2019 – and through and after March of 2022 – to mislead Class members in 

circulars and discussions with the Class by repeatedly claiming, in order to obtain approvals for 

the Outside Developers' actions, that the Outside Developers would not begin pulling money out 

of the contract unless and until construction benefitting the Class had begun; (b) continuing these 

misrepresentations to the Class at first to get approval for the Outside Developers' contract and 

later to string along Class members so they would not realize the harm that was befalling them 

regarding the Outside Developers' unlawful intentions until it was too late; (c) further continuing 

their misrepresentations with an aim of lulling members of the Class into a false sense of security 

for purposes of thereby assisting Klimas and her co-conspirators in diverting funds and taking 

property rights away from members of the Class; (d) once Aldridge and Herman induced members 

of the Class to forgo their rights during what she and Aldridge felt was a critical period, Aldridge 

and Herman then interfaced directly with the Outside Developers and assured them that it was 

acceptable for them to violate the contract made for the benefit of the Class; and (e) ultimately 

culminating in Aldridge and Herman's assurances and approvals they purported to give to the 

Outside Developers that by obtaining "a permit to demolish the old golf building" the Outside 

Developers had "fulfilled" some $20 million in construction requirements by the Outside 

Developers with respect to the Recreation Facilities pursuant to the contract (evidenced by Exhibit 

6 hereto).  

181.  DiGennaro violated Fla. Stat. §§ 617.0834(2)(b) and (c) as well as Fla. Stat. 

§718.303(d) by willfully and in bad faith, or at least recklessly, (a) actively participating with 

Klimas in each of her wrongful actions by at all times voting with her on the Board of the 
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Association in a block and without analyzing in any way, shape or form the propriety, criminality 

or judgment associated with Klimas' intended actions as set forth above; (b) actively concealing 

the monetary diversions of money practiced against the Association and the Class by Klimas as 

set forth above, by at all times refusing to permit a forensic audit or any disclosure by the 

Association that might explain where all the money is going; (c) working as the conspirators' 

"tough guy" by acting in a physically and psychologically aggressive fashion toward staff and 

employees of the Association, Number 1 Association and the Recreation Corporation as well as 

toward members of the Class.  

182.  In connection with DiGennaro's "tough guy" role, DiGennaro has threatened 

members of the Class with retribution or harm in the event they challenge any issue, including, 

without limitation, (a) threatening and harassing Plaintiff Beth Saffer yelling things like "this will 

cost you dearly" although Ms. Saffer is 81 years of age and but five feet tall while DiGennaro 

knew and intended that his scream and his words would serve to make Saffer feel under threat of 

harm; (b) threatening and harassing maintenance workers for Number 1 Association and telling 

them that if they ever sign truthful affidavits regarding DiGennaro and his conspirators' misconduct 

they will undergo harassment and harm at the hands of DiGennaro; and (c) threatening and 

harassing other workers for Number 1 Association or the Recreation Corporation to attempt to get 

them to conceal the truth or look the other way regarding Klimas' diversions of capital and 

property. 

183.   With respect to each of the foregoing actions and patterns of misconduct, Klimas, 

Thom, Aldridge, Herman and DiGennaro have willfully, or at least recklessly, acted in derogation 

of the Association's Bylaws and in violation of Fla. Stat. §§ 617.0834(2)(b) and (c) as well as Fla. 

Stat. §718.303(d). 
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184. As a proximate and foreseeable result of the aforementioned statutory violations,

Plaintiffs have been damaged in an unknown sum according to proof. 

185. Plaintiffs were compelled to hire the undersigned counsel in this matter as well as

other lawyers of record and agreed to pay said counsel a reasonable fee for their services. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs individually, and members of the putative Class, demand judgment 

against the Defendants named in this Count, jointly and severally, for compensatory and special 

damages, costs, prejudgment interest, attorney's fees, and all other damages and relief which is 

permitted by law and which the Court deems just and proper. 

COU!T VII - Aiding and Abetting Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
Against Becker Ballot and Becker & Poliakoff 

186. Plaintiffs reallege Paragraphs 1 through 50 as if IXOO\ VHW IRUWK KHUHLQ� DQG IXUWKHU

allege as follows: 

187. At all material times, Becker & Poliakoff and Becker Ballot were and remain the

alter egos of each other. Becker & Poliakoff and Becker Ballot are controlled by the exact same 

partners that control Becker & Poliakoff as demonstrated by Exhibit 12, and the Becker law firm 

dominates and controls the affairs of Becker Ballot such that maintaining the separate existence 

between these entities would work a fraud or perpetrate an injustice.  There is no separateness in 

the books, records, ledgers and operations between Becker & Poliakoff and Becker Ballot such 

that in actuality they are one and the same. 

188. Becker & Poliakoff and Becker Ballot were at all material times hereto acutely

aware that the Individual Defendants owed fiduciary duties to Plaintiffs and all members of the 

putative Class. 

189. Becker & Poliakoff has acted as an outside lawyer to Number 2 Association, while

Becker & Poliakoff has never acted as counsel for (or otherwise had fiduciary obligations to) any 
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of the Individual Defendants. 

190.   Becker Ballot involved itself, at the request of Becker & Poliakoff, in the 2023 

condominium election of Number 2 Association, as set forth in this Third Amended Complaint. 

191.   Becker & Poliakoff and Becker Ballot were aware of and assisted in each and 

every one of the violations of fiduciary duty by the Individual Defendants through its acts and 

omissions set forth in detail in paragraphs 186 through 202 of this Third Amended Complaint.  

192.  Becker & Poliakoff and Becker Ballot were aware of the mismanagement and 

diversion of more than $1.5 million during the past four years by the fiduciaries and their associates 

as set forth fully in this Third Amended Complaint. Among other things, they were aware of the 

$1.5 million dollar diversion or theft of Association monies and assets as well as the additional 

monetary diversion or theft of $440,909.00 of Association monies disclosed to the Class in May 

of 2021 by Sandra Klimas.  They were further aware of the intentional depletion in reserve funds 

of Number 2 Association in the millions of dollars. During all times material hereto, the majority 

of unlawful actions taken by Becker & Poliakoff as set forth in this Third Amended Complaint 

were taken by lawyers Mark Friedman, Esq. and Joseph Arena, Esq., with others at Becker & 

Poliakoff participating according to proof. 

193.   For at least the last four years, Becker & Poliakoff and Becker Ballot have taken 

extraordinary actions to assist the Individual Defendants in the scheme described in this Third 

Amended Complaint, inter alia, by engaging in the following course of conduct in actively aiding 

and abetting the mismanagement, diversion, malfeasance and cover-up process: 

i. On at least four occasions since 2020, representatives of Becker & Poliakoff 

– including Mark Friedman, Esq. and Joseph Arena, Esq. – falsely represented in 

Palm Greens community meetings, attended by numerous members of the Class, 
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that no diversion of assets had occurred or was occurring and that any belief to the 

contrary was ill-founded. At the time Becker & Poliakoff made such 

representations to the community, they had a duty to speak to the truth and not lie 

and they violated that duty by misleading the community by falsely representing 

that there was not an ongoing diversion or mismanagement of assets. 

ii. The foregoing misrepresentations by Mark Friedman, Esq. and Joseph 

Arena, Esq. were made repeatedly before the calendar year 2024 according to 

proof; and were further made by them on February 2, 2024, and May 30, 2024, in 

meetings with Palm Greens community members. Although Messrs. Friedman and 

Arena did not jointly attend both of these meetings, at least one of them attended 

each and when they attended the explanation made by the lawyer attending was 

always that they were speaking for each other and for Becker & Poliakoff.  Their 

representations that no diversion of assets had occurred were false and made for the 

purposes of allowing the crimes or malfeasance to continue. The purpose of Becker 

& Poliakoff in lying to residents of the Palm Greens community was to cover up 

the crimes and malfeasance of the Individual Defendants even though the 

Individual Defendants were not their clients, and it had no legal obligation to 

protect them but instead had the legal obligation to protect its client Number 2 

Association. 

iii. Becker & Poliakoff destroyed documents and evidence of the diversion of 

assets from Number 2 Association carried out by the Individual Defendants, with 

the intention of concealing what it knew to be criminal misconduct by the 

Individual Defendants to whom Becker & Poliakoff owned no duty whatsoever and 
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had no attorney client relationship with. Among other things, Becker & Poliakoff 

destroyed the only remaining copies of extensive vendor expense reports through 

which the business of Number 2 Association had been mismanaged.  These vendor 

expense reports were not attorney client privileged and contained no work product 

information, but instead were probative evidence of malfeasance by the Individual 

Defendants and were destroyed by Becker & Poliakoff for the purpose of 

concealing the criminal or wrongful acts of the Individual Defendants, according 

to proof; 

iv. When members of the Board of Directors of Number 2 Association began 

to suspect wrongdoing and after the initiation of the case at bar, Becker & Poliakoff 

caused the formation of a "litigation committee" of Number 2 Association 

composed only of Individual Defendants in the case at bar.  This was done in 

February of 2024 by Becker & Poliakoff for the sole and exclusive purpose of 

hiding evidence of the truth from Number 2 Association, to whom Becker & 

Poliakoff had a fiduciary duty of due care.  Among other intentions, Becker & 

Poliakoff forced the Individual Defendants to form this "litigation committee" in 

order to assure that oral and written communications made to the Secretary of the 

Board of Number 2 Association – as well as to the Palm Greens community and 

the outside accountants of Number 2 Association – would never unknowingly or 

negligently include evidence of the ongoing theft and diversion of assets.  

v. Becker & Poliakoff instructed and assisted the Individual Defendants, 

through this "litigation committee," in fabricating evidence to deliver to the 

remainder of the Palm Greens community and the outside accountants of Number 
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2 Association, so that the truth behind the monetary defalcations would continue to 

be hidden and concealed and so that the Palm Greens community and the outside 

accountants of Number 2 Association would continue to be duped; 

vi. Because the monetary diversions Becker & Poliakoff knew about were 

causing extraordinary financial problems for Number 2 Association, Becker & 

Poliakoff hatched another plan to seize control of additional assets of members of 

the Class.  At the time it took such actions, Becker & Poliakoff knew that its actions 

would have the effect of substantially endangering the safety and financial solvency 

and viability of the entire Palm Greens community as well as the adjacent Delray 

Trails community, all in a way designed to frustrate the charter of PGCA as set 

forth in its Articles, Exhibit 1 hereto.  Becker & Poliakoff also knew that its scheme 

and plan to seize control of monies as set forth in this subparagraph would trigger 

violations by the Individual Defendants of the charter of PGCA and of their 

fiduciary duties through the relationships to the Class. Nevertheless, Becker & 

Poliakoff went forward with their attempt to seize such monies knowing that the 

attempt was criminal in nature and would result in injury. Ultimately, once a Circuit 

Judge learned of the scheme, he issued a written ruling directing that the diverted 

monies be returned to the Palm Greens community thereby forcing Number 2 

Association to comply.  The diversion of these assets totaled more than $300,000.00 

and caused substantial injury to the Class.  Following the foregoing ruling by the 

Circuit Court regarding the return of monies, and as the monies were returned to 

the Palm Greens community, Defendant Sandra Klimas unceremoniously resigned 

from Number 2 Association because (among other things) she was disgraced after 
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repeatedly telling the Palm Greens community that such a result would never 

happen and that the money was indeed being properly diverted by her, inter alia, 

under the reasoning that Becker & Poliakoff "was powerful enough" to protect her 

scheme. 

vii. The Becker law firm substantially assisted in the violations of contract by 

the Outside Developers to the injury in the millions of dollars to Plaintiffs and the 

putative Class by maliciously representing to the Class that its lawyers working on 

the matter had sufficient experience to competently evaluate a matter as substantial 

as the matter involving the Outside Developers, which included multi-billion-dollar 

conglomerates and some $20 million of contractual benefits owed to the Class. In 

truth and in fact, the Becker law firm went along with whatever the fiduciaries and 

their associates wanted and provided ground cover in support of such unlawful 

gamesmanship to the detriment of Plaintiffs and the putative Class. Becker & 

Poliakoff did this with the intention of encouraging strife vis a vis the Outside 

Developers in order to provide ground cover to the Individual Defendants so that 

they could continue their financial malfeasance set forth throughout this Third 

Amended Complaint.  The ground cover arose from the fact that the Palm Greens 

community would be so busy fighting the Outside Developers that they might not 

have the resources to fight the Individual Defendants on a so-called second front. 

Although the Becker law firm repeatedly provided substantial assistance in favor 

of the Individual Defendants' decision to permit multi-million-dollar breaches of 

contract by the Outside Developers, the reality was that the Becker law firm never 

had any intention other than to support whatever course of activity the Individual 
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Defendants decided to engage in with respect to the Outside Developers. The reason 

the Becker law firm never even attempted to do a comprehensive evaluation of the 

legal rights held by the Class vis a vis the Outside Developers was that the Becker 

law firm intended to do whatever the fiduciaries and their associates wanted to do 

regardless of whether such course of conduct was unlawful or adverse to the 

putative Class. 

viii. The Becker entities were aware of the plan by the fiduciaries and their 

associates, initiated beginning in 2022, to interfere with important repairs required 

at the Recreation Facilities to avoid structural collapses or injury to the Palm Greens 

and Delray Trails communities. Representatives of Becker & Poliakoff, including 

Mark Friedman, nevertheless went out of their way to take action to interfere with 

life safety work, including instructing third party contractors to cease working even 

though the work was ongoing and being done for the Recreation Association.  At 

the time Friedman interfered in life safety work, neither he nor Becker & Poliakoff 

were counsel in any capacity for the Recreation Association.  Similar to Becker & 

Poliakoff's well known liability in the Surfside Collapse matter (in the tens of 

millions of dollars of liability to Becker & Poliakoff),4 the foregoing course of 

conduct by Becker & Poliakokff has resulted in grave risk of death or serious bodily 

injury to residents of Palm Greens and Delray Trails, according to proof.   

ix. Becker & Poliakoff further assisted in 2022 and 2023 as the fiduciaries and 

their associates hatched plans to steal $700,000.00 in Recreation Corporation 

 
4   See, e.g., Brittany Wallman et al., BECKER & POLIAKOFF law firm the ‘nemesis’ of condo 

safety reformers, Sun Sentinel (Sept. 28, 2021) https://www.sun-sentinel.com/2021/09/28/ 
becker-poliakoff-law-firm-the-nemesis-of-condo-safety-reformers/.  
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reserve funds. Becker and Poliakoff’s assistance was not comprised of rendering 

legal advice but instead was comprised of covering up said plans and misleading 

members of the Class and regulators or judicial personnel by defrauding them into 

believing that there was no such plan in 2022 and 2023 by the fiduciaries and their 

associates even though the Becker law firm knew there was a plan to take these 

monies in violation of the Number 2 Association Bylaws as well as the charter of 

PGCA, Exhibit 1.   

194.   In addition to taking the foregoing actions by Becker & Poliakoff, the Becker 

Entities were aware of and participated in the plan by the fiduciaries and their associates to conduct 

a flawed and fraudulent condominium election on January 31, 2024 which included violations of 

the Florida Administrative Code and applicable Florida law, including, but not limited to, Fla. Stat. 

§§ 718.112 and 718.128 as well as Florida Administrative Code, Rule 61B-23.0021(7) and all 

other applicable statutory and regulatory provisions governing condominium elections in the State 

of Florida.  They effectuated the fraudulent election in the following manner: 

i. Becker & Poliakoff and Becker Ballot agreed to become involved in the 

January 31, 2024, condominium election of the Association, but then overtly took 

the actions of assisting in furnishing incorrect electronic credentials and address 

information to Number 2 Association residents which had the effect of confusing 

and frustrating and rigging the vote.  

ii. After being furnished with the facts of such incorrect information, Becker 

& Poliakoff and Becker Ballot refused to even attempt to work cooperatively to 

assure a compliant Board election. Instead of simply agreeing to provide a correct 

voting link and registration address equally to all relevant members of the putative 
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Class entitled to vote, and otherwise putting mechanisms in place to assure an 

honest and accurate election, Becker & Poliakoff and Becker Ballot instead ignored 

the issue and then hired outside counsel to stonewall the issue in bad faith and with 

full knowledge that by doing so they were substantially assisting the rest of the 

Defendants in violating their fiduciary duties to Plaintiffs and the putative Class. 

iii. Further involvement in the fraudulent election by the Becker Entities 

included the Becker Entities' decision to allow residents to vote multiple time for 

the same candidates and to advise the fiduciaries and their associates that 

disseminating fraudulent candidate information in the run up to the election was 

perfectly acceptable even though the Becker Entities knew full well that such 

misconduct violated Florida Administrative Code, Rule 61B-23-0021(7). 

iv. Becker & Poliakoff and Becker Ballot then covered up the fraudulent 

January 31, 2024, election by concealing all material documents and information 

from members of the Number 2 Association following the election and destroying 

other documents associated with the said election according to proof, in violation 

of Florida law. 

195.   Without the foregoing aiding and abetting by the Becker Entities of the violations 

of fiduciary duty by the Individual Defendants, the violations of law alleged herein would have 

never taken place or would have been discovered earlier and arrested.  

196.  As a proximate and foreseeable result of the aforementioned aiding and 

abetting breaches of fiduciary duty, Plaintiffs have been damaged in an unknown sum. 

          WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs individually, and as members of the putative Class, demand 

judgment against the Defendants named in this Count, jointly and severally, for compensatory 
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damages, costs, prejudgment interest, and all other damages and any and all other relief which 

is permitted by law and which the Court deems just and proper. 

COU!T VIII - Accounting Against !umber 2 Association 

197.   Plaintiffs reallege Paragraphs 1 through 50 as if fully set forth herein, and further 

allege as follows:  

198.  At all times material hereto, the fiduciaries and their associates have stood in a 

fiduciary relation to all members of the Class, pursuant to the Articles and Bylaws of the 

Recreation Association, of Number 2 Association and of PGCA and because each of the fiduciaries 

and their associates accepted fiduciary positions on behalf of PGCA during the restructuring of the 

Palm Greens community. 

199.   Despite their fiduciary relationships, the fiduciaries and their associates have 

admitted that as of May 2021, more than $400,000.00 belonging to the Number 2 Association, and 

thus Plaintiffs and the Class, had been "lost" by virtue of "phony invoices."  

200.  The Number 2 Association has refused to make any attempts to locate this 

$400,000.00 of “lost” money.   

201.  Subsequently, the fiduciaries and their associates have stolen or diverted more than 

$1.5 million dollars as well as having depleting millions of dollars of reserves.  

202.  The Number 2 Association has refused to make any attempts to locate or recover 

back any of the foregoing assets despite the fact that doing so is critical to meeting the charter of 

PGCA as set forth in the Articles, Exhibit 1, not to mention critical pursuant to the Bylaws of both 

Number 2 Association and the Recreation Association.  

203.  In addition, the fiduciaries and their associates have levied unprecedented special 

assessments and surcharges to residents and Class members but the proceeds of the bulk of such 
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special assessments, totaling more than $500,000.00, do not appear in the budgets or 

documentation submitted by the Number 2 Association’s Board of Directors to the Class.   

204.  Pursuant to both Fla. Stat. §§ 718.111(12) and 718.111(13) and applicable law, the 

Class, including members of the Number 2 Association, are entitled to full access to the books and 

records of the Number 2 Association. To date, full access has been denied despite a Circuit Judge's 

written ruling confirming that such full access should be given. Regardless of limited access of 

such records to date, such limited access is incapable of disclosing or explaining the defalcations 

and mismanagement which have taken place.  

205.  Accordingly, as a result of the fiduciary relationship owed to the Class by the 

Association and its Board of Directors, and the foregoing circumstances, as well as the fact that 

there is no other adequate remedy to determine where the Association’s monies have gone or been 

diverted to, a full accounting is required.  Pursuant to allegations set forth in this Third Amended 

Complaint, the Class is entitled to complete access to all books and records of the Association 

pursuant to both Fla. Stat. §§ 718.111(12) and 718.111(13) and applicable law and upon gaining 

such access is then entitled to a full accounting.  

              WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs individually, and as members of the putative Class, demand 

judgment ordering an accounting of the Association’s finances and access to all relevant books 

and records of the Association along with any other relief which this Court deems just and proper. 

               RESERVATIO! TO ALLEGE PU!ITIVE DAMAGE RELIEF 

 Plaintiffs and all members of the Class reserve their right to seek leave of Court, as is 

required in this jurisdiction, to amend this pleading to add any appropriate claim for punitive 

damages. 

DEMA!D FOR TRIAL BY JURY 

Plaintiffs hereby demand trial by jury on all matters triable as of right by a jury



68 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on October 28, 2024 a true and correct copy of the foregoing 

was served via automatically generated e-mail on the Florida e-filing portal to all counsel of record. 

Dated: October 28, 2024 Respectfully submitted, 

AI!SWORTH + CLA!CY, PLLC 
1826 Ponce de Leon Blvd 
Coral Gables, FL 33134 
Telephone: (305) 600-3816 
Facsimile: (305) 600-3817 
Counsel for Plaintiffs 

By:   /s/ !"#$%&'#$("% %
Ryan Clancy, Esq. 
Florida Bar No. 117650 
Email: ryan@business-esq.com  
Email: service1@business-esq.com 

VERIFICATIO! 

Under penalties of perjury, we declare that we have read the foregoing and the facts 

alleged are true and correct, except as to those matters alleged on information and belief 

which we are informed and believe are true, correct and accurate. 

Dated: May 17, 2024 _______________________________ 
ARTHUR ROBINS 

Dated: May 17, 2024 _______________________________ 
BETH SAFFER 

Dated: May 17, 2024 _______________________________ 
LISA DEFABRITIIS 
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Exhibit 1 
PGCA's Articles of Incorporation 
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Composite Exhibit 2 
Declarations of Condominium for 

Number 1 Association and Number 2 
Association 
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Exhibit 3 
Access Easement 
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Exhibit 4 
Thom’s Email from September 17, 2022 
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Exhibit 5 
Sandra Klimas' October 9, 2022, Email 
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Exhibit 6 
Aldridge’s Confirmation 
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Exhibit 7  
Pre-arbitration notification letter found 
to be inadequate by the State of Florida 
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Exhibit 8 
Notification Letter 
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Exhibit 9 
Letter to Becker & Poliakoff 

  



N
O

T
 A

 C
E
R
T
IF

IE
D

 C
O

P
Y



N
O

T
 A

 C
E
R
T
IF

IE
D

 C
O

P
Y



 

79 
 

Exhibit 10 
Letter to Becker & Poliakoff 
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Exhibit 11 
Fattori’s Circular 
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Exhibit 12 
Becker Entities  
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